Determination of electron-phonon coupling from structured optical spectra of impurity centers

I. S. Osad'ko

V. I. Lenin State Pedagogical Institute, Moscow Usp. Fiz. Nauk 128, 31-67 (May 1979)

Recent developments in the theory of impurity centers are reviewed. Particular attention is devoted to the way this theory can be exploited in the quantitative analysis of structured optical spectra through the use of formulas relating the absorption band shape to the shape of the fluorescence band. Analysis of departures from mirror-image relation between these two spectra can be used to deduce the parameters of the electron-phonon coupling from the shape of the structured bands. Topics discussed include zerophonon lines, the dependence of their shape and position on temperature, departures from mirror-image relation for both phonon wings and the vibronic absorption and fluorescence spectra, the energy gap between the absorption and fluorescence spectra of certain molecules, and the nature of excimer emission in solids.

PACS numbers: 71.38. + i, 78.50. - w, 78.55. - m, 33.50.Dq

CONTENTS

1. Introduction		311
2. Reasons for the broadening of optical spectra. The electron-phonon coupling		311
A. Inhomogeneous broadening		312
B. Homogenous broadening		312
3. Phonon wings as a source of information on the electron-phonon coupling		313
A. Multiphonon bands		314
B. Structured bands		315
1. Basic model		315
2. Complete Franck-Condon coupling		316
3. Combined effect of Franck-Condon and Herzberg-Teller coupling		317
4. Temperature broadening and the shift of zero-phonon lines		318
A. Shape of the zero-phonon line and dependence of the shape on W only		319
B. Connection between zero-phonon lines in conjugate absorption and fluorescence	bands	319
C. Connection between Eq. (4.2) and approximate expressions		319
D. "Limiting" and weak broadening		320
5. Experimental studies of shift and broadening of the zero-phonon line and compariso	n with	
theory		320
A. Shape of zero-phonon line		320
B. Temperature broadening and shift of zero-phonon lines in conjugate absorption a	ind	
fluorescence bands		320
C. Method used to compare measured and calculated half-widths		321
D. Importance of the adiabatic mechanism of broadening of zero-phonon lines		322
E. Temperature shift of zero-phonon lines		322
6. Determination of the vibronic interaction from structured vibronic spectra		322
7. Spectra of impurity centers with sharp anomalies		325
A. Excimers		326
B. "Multiplets"		327
8. Conclusions		327
References		327

1. INTRODUCTION

The spectroscopy of impurity centers¹⁾ has undergone considerable development in the course of the last decade. There has been considerable progress both in the depth and scope of these investigations. On the one hand, an enormous number of new chemical compounds which was previously outside the range of interest of spectroscopy has been studied. This expansion in research in this field was stimulated by searches for new materials for use in dye lasers, by the application of spectroscopic methods to biochemical and chemical

problems, and by a number of other factors. On the other hand, the attention of researchers has been increasingly drawn to quantitative questions, such as, for example, the structure of impurity molecules, the shape of the optical spectrum of impurity centers, the temperature dependence of bands and the consequences thereof, the probability of radiationless transitions, and so on. There is no doubt that quantitative answers to such questions are most simply obtained in the case of structured optical spectra. Whereas optical line spectra were previously encountered mainly in the study of paramagnetic ions in crystalline matrices, the onset of extensive utilization of normal paraffins (Shpol'skii matrices) as solvents has led to the study of line spectra of many complicated organic molecules as well.

0038-5670/79/050311-19\$01.10

¹⁾In this article the term impurity center stands for an isolated ion, atom or molecule surrounded by a solid (crystalline or glassy) or a liquid solvent.

The spectral bands of impurity centers can serve as a valuable source of information on intra- and intermolecular interactions, the structure of impurity centers and changes they undergo during phototransitions, the ways in which the energy of an absorbed photon is transformed into vibrational energy, and so on. However, the information that the spectral bands undoubtedly contain is often difficult, and occasionally impossible, to extract without detailed theoretical analysis. Unfortunately, the possibilities of existing theories have not as yet been adequately exploited. Interpretations of experimental data are frequently founded on naive and occasionally erroneous theoretical discussions. All this indicates that the modern theory of the impurity center is largely unfamiliar to many experimentalists. A review of the most recent achievements of this theory may, therefore, be useful at this stage.

Considerable progress has been achieved in the course of the last 5-7 years in the quantitative theory of the shape of bands due to impurity centers. The theory is now capable of establishing a quantitative relationship between conjugate absorption and luminescence spectra with different intensity distributions (both structured and structure-free).²⁾ The theory establishes a relationship between this conjugate property and the parameters of the electron-phonon coupling. The basic results of this theory that have not so far been presented in existing reviews¹⁻⁶ and mono-graphs,⁷⁻¹¹ and the practical applications of these results in the analysis of particular experimental data, form the main body of the present review.

2. REASONS FOR THE BROADENING OPTICAL SPECTRA. THE ELECTRON-PHONON COUPLING

It is no exaggeration to say that the structure of an optical spectrum is one of its most important characteristics. The greater the structure of the spectrum, the easier it is to investigate such important questions as the influence of particular groups of atoms on physical, chemical, and biological properties of impurity molecules; the paths of photochemical reactions and the redistribution of photon energy among different degrees of freedom of the molecule; the identification of individual molecules at different stages of photochemical or biochemical processes, and so on. However, the very extensive experimental material now available indicates that many complicated organic molecules that are of interest to chemists, biochemists, and biologists do not have a structured optical spectrum. Why is this so? There are two possible reasons for the broadening of the bands.

A. Inhomogeneous broadening

This broadening is due to the fact that the spectrum recorded in a particular experiment is the resultant of the spectra of an enormous number of impurity centers. Since the electronic excitation energy of an im-

312 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

purity molecule depends on the local conditions in which the molecule is found, and these conditions (especially in glassy and liquid solvents) are not the same at different points in the specimen, the frequency of the radiation emitted or absorbed by impurity centers occupies a definite frequency interval. The magnitude of this inhomogeneous broadening may reach several hundred cm^{-1} . It is practically independent of temperature, and can be reduced by suitable choice of solvent (normal paraffins are very effective in this respect) or by monochromatic excitation.^{12, 13} It is important to emphasize that monochromatic excitation can substantially reduce the width of the luminescence band if the optical band of each impurity center has sufficient structure.

B. Homogeneous broadening

This is due to the electron-phonon coupling.³⁾ It is precisely this interaction that transforms an optical line of each impurity center into a band. In this review, we shall be concerned with the band shape due to an individual impurity center, i.e., we will discuss homogeneous broadening.

The shape of an optical band can be calculated from the formula $(\hbar = 1)$

$$P(\omega) = 2\pi \sum_{a,b} w(a) |\langle b|H_{int}|a\rangle|^2 \,\delta(\omega - E_b + E_a), \qquad (2.1)$$

Here H_{int} is the operator representing the interaction between light and electrons in the impurity center, and w(a) is the expectation of the initial state $|a\rangle$ with energy E_a . The eigenfunctions $|a\rangle$, $|b\rangle$ and the corresponding energies E_a , E_b of the impurity center are conveniently calculated in the Born approach.^{14,15} According to this approach, the total electron-phonon coupling can be divided into two parts: the nonadiabatic and the adiabatic. By taking these two parts of the interaction into account, it is possible to explain any transformation in the impurity center that accompanies absorption or emission of light. Unfortunately, this point is often lost in a welter of confused terminology such as "electronic regrouping," " change of conformation," and so on.

The nonadiabatic part of the interaction is responsible for radiationless transformations of electronic excitation into vibrational energy and the Jahn-Teller effect in impurity centers of high symmetry. It also influences the shape of the bands due to impurity centers of low symmetry. However, whilst the nonadiabatic part of the interaction is fundamentally important in the explanation of radiationless transitions, because such transitions vanish in the absence of the nonadiabatic part, the influence of this part of the interaction on the shape of absorption bands and, especially, the shape of luminescence bands due to centers with low symmetry, can frequently be neglected. The shape of the optical bands due to such centers can therefore be analyzed by including only the adiabatic part of the electron-phonon coupling, i.e., the adia-

²⁾Conjugate spectra are defined as the absorption and luminescence spectra corresponding to transitions between ground and first excited electronic states.

³⁾In liquid solutions or vapors, the broadening of optical lines of molecules may be due to dissociation, ionization, and so on (see footnote 15).

batic approximation can be employed.

It is well known that, in the adiabatic approximation, the wave function of an impurity center can be written in the form of the product

$$|a\rangle = \Psi^{\tau}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}) \Phi_{v}^{e}(\mathbf{R}) \qquad (g=0, e)$$
(2.2)

of the electronic wave function $\Psi^{\mathfrak{e}}$ and the vibrational wave function $\Phi_{\mathfrak{v}}^{\mathfrak{e}}$. The electronic function of the *g*-th electronic state depends parametrically on the vibrational coordinates **R**, so that the matrix element of the operator describing the interaction with radiation

$$M(\mathbf{R}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\mathbf{r} \Psi^0(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}) H_{\text{int}} \Psi^r(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{R}), \qquad (2.3)$$

evaluated with the aid of these functions, will also depend on R. The incomplete separation of the electronic and nuclear variables r and R in the adiabatic function $|a\rangle$ shows that these degrees of freedom are coupled. This is sometimes referred to as the Herzberg-Teller coupling (the HT coupling). The vibrational functions Φ_{ν}^{0} and Φ_{ν}^{e} of the unexcited and excited impurity-containing crystal in the harmonic approximation are the eigenfunctions of the following Hamiltonians, respectively:

$$H^{0}(\mathbf{R}) = \hat{T}(\mathbf{R}) + \mathbf{R} \frac{\hat{U}^{0}}{2} \mathbf{R}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$H^{e}(\mathbf{R}+\mathbf{a}) = \hat{T}(\mathbf{R})(\mathbf{R}+\mathbf{a}) \frac{\hat{U}^{e}}{2}(\mathbf{R}+\mathbf{a}); \qquad (2.5)$$

where $T(\mathbf{R})$ is the nuclear kinetic-energy operator and the second terms on the right-hand sides of these formulas are the multidimensional Franck-Condon surfaces in the space of the variables \mathbf{R} . The shift of the minima of the surface under electronic excitation of an impurity center is described by the multidimensional vector \mathbf{a} and the change in the shape of the surface is described by the matrix $\hat{W} = \hat{U}^e - \hat{U}^{0,4}$ These two parameters determine the Franck-Condon (FC) coupling. In the harmonic approximation, the complete adiabatic interaction can be written symbolically in the following form:

$$\mathbf{a} \neq 0, \quad \hat{W} \neq 0, \quad M(\mathbf{R}) \neq \text{const.}$$
 (2.6)

The parameters a, \hat{W} and the derivatives of M with respect to R determine the intensity distribution in the conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands. These parameters have a different effect on completely and partially symmetric vibrations, respectively. This problem is discussed in greater detail in Sec. 6.

The theory that was available 5-7 years ago was capable of providing only a qualitative answer to the question as to which effects are due to the parameter \hat{W} and the derivaties of M with respect to **R**, because the influence of these parameters on the intensity distribution was treated by the theory under serious restrictions and incompletely. This was connected with mathematical difficulties that have now been overcome, and the influence of the parameters a, \hat{W} and of the derivatives of M with respect to **R** on the shape of the optical bands can now be examined without restrictions.

313 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

This has led to the development of a theory that provides a quantitative relationship between the intensity distribution in conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands in the absence of a mirror-image relation between them.

- An 🏚

It is important to recall that the relationship between the shape of the conjugate absorption bands, $I^{0}(\omega)$ = $P^{0}(\omega)/\omega$, the fluorescence bands, $I^{e}(\omega) = \text{const} \times P^{e}(\omega)/\omega^{3}$, where $P^{e}(\omega)$ is the energy emitted or absorbed per unit time (g = 0, e), was discussed in the early literature. Thus, Blokhintsev¹⁶ and Pekar¹ showed that the intensity distributions in conjugate spectra satisfied the mirror-image relation with respect to the energy ε of the zero-phonon transition, i.e.,

$$I^{o}(\omega) = I^{e}(2\varepsilon - \omega), \qquad (2.7)$$

if $\hat{W} = 0$ and $M(\mathbf{R}) = \text{const.}$ This is the mathematical expression of the mirror-image relation of Levshin.¹⁷ Stepanov¹⁸ used only the assumption that the thermalization of vibrational energy was faster than that of electronic energy, and employed (2.1) to show that

$$I^{e}(\omega) = e^{(e-\omega)/kT} I^{0}(\omega), \qquad (2.8)$$

which relates the Stokes part of the absorption band to the anti-Stokes part of the fluorescence band. The effect of the dependence of M on R on the integrated intensity of conjugate bands has frequently been investigated in the literature, 19^{-21} and the effect of W on the half-width of bands was studied by Kristofel' et al.22 Both the difference between the integrated intensities and the half-widths of the conjugate bands were established. However, these workers did not calculate the intensities of mutually conjugate phototransitions, i.e., phototransitions whose frequencies have mirror symmetry with respect to the frequency of the zero-phonon transition (such calculations are summarized in Secs. 3 and 6). Nevertheless, the results obtained by these workers enable us to conclude that mutually conjugate transitions have different intensities. This means that the radiative lifetime of an electronically excited impurity center cannot be determined from the integrated extinction coefficient if the intensity distributions conjugate bands do not exhibit mirror symmetry.²³

3. PHONON WINGS AS A SOURCE OF INFORMATION ON THE ELECTRON-PHONON COUPLING

The optical electrons of an impurity center interact with both intramolecular and intermolecular vibrations (phonons). The electron-phonon coupling is a special case of the interaction mentioned in the last subsection and is responsible for phototransitions with the creation and annihilation of phonons which, in turn, are responsible for band broadening. An optical band can, in general, be represented by the sum of two terms

I

$$(\omega) = J(\omega) + \Phi(\omega), \qquad (3.1)$$

where $J(\omega)$ has the form of a sharp peak describing the zero-phonon line (ZPL) and the function $\Phi(\omega)$ describes the phonon wing (PW) accompanying the ZPL. Depending on the ratio of the integrated intensities in the ZPL and PW, i.e., the ratio of J to Φ , each of the optical bands can be assigned to one of the three types illustrated in Fig. 1. For brevity, we shall refer to the bands shown in Figs. 1a-c as a, b, and c bands, re-

⁴⁾The phrase, "change of conformation," which is often found in chemical and biochemical literature, can be identified with the case $\mathbf{a} \neq 0$ and $\widehat{W} \neq 0$.

 $\alpha = \frac{J}{J+\Phi}$

(3.2)

determines the probability of zero-phonon transitions.⁵⁾ In the theory of scattering of neutrons and x rays by crystals, a similar ratio determines the probability of elastic scattering and is called the Debye-Waller factor. It will be useful to retain this phrase for optical ZPL, i.e., for the quantity α . The latter quantity depends on all the parameters characterizing the adiabatic and nonadiabatic interactions, and therefore serves as a rough measure of the strength of the electron-phonon coupling. The stronger the coupling, the smaller is the parameter α . However, not all parameters have the same effect on α . For example, a change in the matrix \widehat{W} has very little effect on α but, on the other hand, this parameter completely defines the temperature broadening of the ZPL. The quantity α and the rate of temperature broadening may therefore be uncorrelated. In most cases, α is a good measure of the shift a of the position of equilibrium of oscillators characterizing vibrations of the solvent.⁶⁾

An increase in temperature is accompanied by three effects, namely: (1) a reduction in the integrated intensity of the ZPL, (2) a broadening of the PW, and (3) a broadening and shift of the ZPL. The first two effects increase with decreasing value of α at zero temperature and are, therefore, most appreciable in b and c bands. Conversely, the third effect is most important in spectra with $\alpha \approx 1$. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.

A real optical spectrum consisting of vibronic and vibronic-phonon transitions may be a superposition of different types of band. Moreover, the b bands may transform into the c bands as the temperature increase (see Fig. 3) and the spectrum loses its structure. Experimental evidence nevertheless suggests that real spectra are dominated by bands of a particular type. For example, paramagnetic ions in crystals, and many



FIG. 1. Three types of optical bands corresponding to different strengths of electron-phonon coupling: (a) luminescence line of 1, 12-benzperylene in *n*-hexane²⁵ at 4.2 °K; (b) absorption band of the R_2 center in LiF at 4.2 °K; (c) luminescence band of the F center in KBr²⁴ at 20 °K.

314 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979



FIG. 2. Temperature dependence of type a and b bands:²⁷ (a) broadening and shift of the zero-phonon line; (b) fall in integrated intensity of the zero-phonon line.

organic molecules in n-paraffins, are mainly represented by a bands. The b bands have been observed both in organic and alkali halide matrices.²⁵⁻³⁶ The cbands have, so far, been reliably identified only in alkali halide matrices. We may therefore suppose that structure-free bands due to organic dyes are vibromicphonon transitions blended with strong PW. The cbands will be called multiphonon bands, whereas the a and b bands will be referred to as structured bands. When optical bands are examined, two problems arise right at the outset, namely: (1) which coupling (Franck-Condon or Herzberg-Teller) is responsible for the broadening and (2) what information can be obtained by studying the band shape? The answer to the first question is different for multiphonon and structured bands, and we shall therefore consider them separately.

A. Multiphonon bands

These bands were investigated in the 1950's by Pekar, Huan, and Rhys, and by Davydov, Kubo, and Toyoza-



FIG. 3. Fluorescence band of perylene and *n*-heptane at 4.2 °K (top left) and its temperature variation (top right).²⁵ The function $v(\omega)$ is "extracted" from the band with the aid of (3.17). The temperature reduction in integrated intensity of the zero-phonon line was calculated with this particular function $v(\omega)$.

⁵⁾In type c bands, this ratio is small and, as a rule, cannot be measured because ZPL cannot be separated from PW.

⁶⁾In bands with forbidden 0-0 transitions, the ratio α depends on the HT coupling. In bands with allowed 0-0 transitions, but weak electron-phonon coupling, i.e., when $\alpha \approx 1$, the parameter α may also depend preferentially on the HT coupling.

wa.^{1,37-40} They showed that multiphonon bands appeared if electronic excitation of an impurity center produced a shift **a** in the equilibrium positions of the solvent molecules that was greater by a factor of 10-20 than the amplitude of the zero-point vibrations of the solvent crystal. In this case, the zero-phonon transitions are practically absent and the shape of the absorption PW near the maximum is approximately Gaussian:⁷⁾

$$\Phi(\omega) \approx (4\pi B(T))^{-1/2} \exp\left[-\frac{(\omega - \varepsilon - A)^2}{4B(T)}\right],$$
(3.3)

where the constants A and B can be expressed in terms of the phonon function $f(\nu, T)$ (sometimes also called the Stokes loss function⁷), as follows:

$$A = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv \, v f(v, T), \qquad (3.4)$$

$$B = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv \frac{v^2}{2} f(v, T).$$
 (3.5)

The particular feature of the multiphonon bands is that they have no structure. The presence of even broad structure or turning points on the band profile would undoubtedly indicate that the band under consideration is the sum of several multiphonon bands because the broadening would then be largely inhomogeneous. The half-width

$$\Delta_{\Gamma}(T) = 4\sqrt{B(T)\ln 2}$$
(3.6)

of a multiphonon band must be several times greater than the Debye frequency ν_D of the solvent, i.e., it must be not less than 200-300 cm⁻¹ in the case of organic impurity crystals. The formulas given by (3.3)-(3.6) and subsequent formulas given by (3.7)-(3.11) were obtained by Pekar¹ in the 1950's on the assumption that the Franck-Condon potential surfaces retained their shape under electronic excitation of the impurity center ($\hat{W} = 0$) and the Condon approximation was valid $[M(\mathbf{R}) = \text{const}]$, i.e., only part of the adiabatic interaction was included. In this approximation, the conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands exhibit mirror symmetry relative to the energy of the zero-phonon transition, and the phonon function depends simply on temperature:

where

$$v(\mathbf{v}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \left(\frac{a_{\mathbf{x}}}{2}\right)^2 \delta(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{x}}) = \frac{3N}{2} \xi^2(\mathbf{v}) \rho(\mathbf{v}), \qquad (3.8)$$

f(v, T) = (n(v) + 1) v(v) + n(-v) v(-v),

 $a_{\kappa}/\sqrt{2}$ is the shift of the position of equilibrium of the κ -th normal oscillator, referred to the amplitude of its zero-point vibrations, N is the number of molecules in the crystal, $\xi^2(\nu)$ is a function of the electron-phonon coupling, $n(\nu) = (e^{\nu/MT} - 1)^{-1}$, and $\rho(\nu)$ is the density of phonon states of the solvent containing the impurity. The single-phonon function $v(\nu)$ is related to the probability $\Phi_1(\nu)$ of the phototransition with the creation of one phonon by the simple expression:

$$\Phi_{1}(v) = (n(v) + 1) v(v) \exp \left[-\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega v(\omega) (2n(\omega) + 1)\right].$$
 (3.9)

If we substitute (3.7) in (3.4) and (3.5), we find that the

Stokes shift 2A is independent of temperature because

$$=\int_{0}^{\infty} dv \, vv \, (\mathbf{v}). \quad \cdot \tag{3.10}$$

For $kT \gg \nu_D$, the band half-width $\Delta_{\Gamma}(T)$ is related to the temperature and Stokes shift, as follows:

$$\Delta_{\Gamma}^{2}(T) = 16B(T) \ln 2 \approx \Delta_{\Gamma}^{2}(0) + kTA \ln 2.$$
(3.11)

The question is—how will (3.3)-(3.11) change when $\hat{W} \neq 0$ and $M(\mathbb{R}) \neq \text{const}$? The answer to this question could not be provided by the theory until relatively recently, although the influence of \hat{W} and $M(\mathbb{R})$ on the optical band shape was examined by a number of workers.^{39, 43-45} More recently, this question was investigated by Osad'ko.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ These investigations have shown that (3.3)-(3.5) retain their form, but (3.7)-(3.11) are modified. These changes are particularly well defined in structured optical bands and are therefore considered below.

B. Structured bands

- en la

A

In a structured band, the PW consists of phototransitions with the creation of a small number of phonons (between one and three). Such PW can be generated by either the FC or HT coupling or both. It is usually assumed that the dependence of the electronic matrix element M on the intermolecular vibrational coordinates \mathbf{R} is significant only when one considers PW in bands with forbidden pure electronic transitions. It will be shown below that the HT coupling may also play an important role in bands corresponding to allowed electronic transitions. There are, in fact, three qualitative criteria enabling us to identify which of the two interactions (FC or HT) is responsible for the PW. Firstly, if the PW is generated by the FC coupling, intensity must be transferred from the ZPL to the PW as the temperature increases.⁸⁾ This transfer is shown in Fig. 3. The rate of energy transfer increases with increasing PW intensity at zero temperature. The following quantitative estimate is now available^{25, 32}: if the Debye-Waller factor at T=4 °K is roughly 0.2–0.3, the ZPL will almost completely "drown" in the PW even at 40 °K. Secondly and conversely, if the PW is generated by the HT coupling, the integrated ZPL intensity is practically independent of temperature.⁴⁷ Thirdly, if both FC and HT are operating, the Debye-Waller factor will be different for the conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands.⁴⁷ The explicit form of the functions $J(\omega)$ and $\Phi(\omega)$ describing ZPL and PW in (3.1) depends on the particular form of the electron-phonon coupling. Three topical special cases are examined below.

1. Basic model

(3.7)

Suppose $a \neq 0$ and the other interaction parameters are all zero. Although this so-called basic model has frequently been discussed, one of its aspects has not been considered in the review literature. This is that, within the framework of this model, one can calculate

⁷)The long-wave edge of the absorption bands well away from the maximum is described by the Urbach formula.^{41,42}

⁸⁾This result is already implied in the formulas given by Krivoglaz and Pekar⁴⁹ and Davydov.³⁸ However, it attracted its due attention only after the discovery of the Mössbauer effect.⁵⁰⁻⁵²

theoretically the temperature reduction in the ZPL intensity by using only the experimental PW shape function at zero temperature. If one then compares the reduction in the integrated ZPL intensity calculated in this way with experimental data, one can determine whether the FC interaction is responsible for the PW. This procedure was first used by Personov *et al.*²⁵ and is summarized below.

Within the framework of the basic model, the functions $J(\omega)$ and $\Phi(\omega)$ are given by

$$J(\omega) = M^2 e^{-j(\tau)} \delta(\omega), \qquad (3.12)$$

$$f(T) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv f(v, T) = \int_{0}^{v} dv v(v) \operatorname{cth} \frac{v}{2kT}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\Phi^{g}(\omega) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m!} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv_{i} \dots \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv_{m} f(v_{i}, T) \dots f(v_{m}, T)$$

$$\times J(\omega \mp v_{i} \mp \dots \mp v_{m})$$
(2)

$$(g=0, e),$$
 (3.14)

where f(v, T) and v(v) are given by (3.7) and (3.8). It is readily seen that

$$\Phi^{\mathfrak{g}}(\omega) = \Phi^{\mathfrak{g}}(-\omega), \qquad (3.15)$$

i.e., the conjugate PW exhibits mirror symmetry relative to $\omega = 0$, which is taken as the energy of the zerophonon transition. Mirror symmetry of the conjugate PW is the main indication that a change in \hat{W} is, in fact, so small that it can be neglected. The *m*-th term in (3.14) can be interpreted as the probability of the *m*-phonon phototransition. Integrating the *m*-th term in (3.14) with respect to ω , we obtain the well-known expression

$$\Phi_m = M^2 e^{-f(T)} \frac{f(T)^m}{r!} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

The multiphonon transition probability increases with increasing f(T), as shown in Fig. 4. The PW is, therefore, of the multiphonon type for f > 5 - 10, and (3.14) is then close to the approximate formula (3.3). If, on the other hand, $f \approx 1-3$, which occurs in the case of b bands, only the first few terms are important in (3.14) and all the others are very small. The function $v(\omega)$ can then be "extracted" from $\Phi(\omega)$ measured at T=0 by solving the equation^{53, 54}

$$\boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = J^{-1} \left[\boldsymbol{\Phi}(\boldsymbol{\omega}) - \frac{1}{\omega} \int_{0}^{\omega} d\boldsymbol{v} \, \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{v}) \, \boldsymbol{v} \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{v}) \right].$$
(3.17)

If the integrated ZPL intensity J is much greater than the PW intensity, i.e., $\alpha \ge 0.8$, then (3.17) shows that

$$v(\omega) \sim J^{-1}\Phi(\omega).$$
 (3.18)

However, this approximation cannot be used if $\alpha \approx 0.6$ -0.2, and one must then perform a numerical solution of (3.17). This has been done by a number of authors.^{25,32,33,36,60} Equation (3.17) is not linear in v(v)because J is also a function of this. It is therefore usual to proceed as follows. Before the numerical solution of (3.17) is performed, the value of J determined from the experimental curve $J(\omega)$ is substituted into this equation on the same scale on which the function $\Phi(\omega)$ is constructed. The result of the solution of (3.17) is very dependent on the precision with which J is measured. The importance of this precision increases with

316 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979



FIG. 4. Relative contribution of *m*-phonon phototransitions to the integrated intensity of the phonon wing for different values of the Debye-Waller factor³² α . Broken line shows the value of α for the band shown in the top-left corner of Fig. 3.

decreasing J. In practice, therefore, Eq. (3.17) can only be used for $\alpha \ge 0.2$.

The connection between the temperature reduction in the integrated ZPL intensity and the PW intensity at zero temperature, expressed by (3.12) and (3.13), and by (3.17), will be different if the HT coupling is not very weak. Experimental verification of this connection is, therefore, also an indication that the HT interaction is relatively unimportant in the experimentally investigated bands. This has been shown by the authors of Refs. 25 and 32. Figure 3 shows v(v) "extracted" from the PW and the temperature reduction in the integrated ZPL intensity calculated with the aid of this function from (3.12) and (3.13). The agreement between the calculated and the measured reduction suggests that PW under investigation is of Franck-Condon origin.

2. The complete Franck-Condon coupling

Suppose that $a \neq 0$ and $\hat{W} = 0$, i.e., the FC coupling is completely taken into account and the HT coupling is neglected. Since the matrix \tilde{W} is different in the electronically excited and unexcited crystals, the normal coordinates of the vibrations are also different. This leads to the following mathematical problem: there is no coordinate system in which the multidimensional Franck-Condon overlap integral for the oscillator wave function can be split into products of one-dimensional integrals. All published calculations^{22, 43-45, 55-59} of the effect of \hat{W} on band shape are therefore subject to serious restrictions.⁹⁾ Many practical questions cannot, therefore, be answered by the theory in a way that would satisfy experimenters. It is only quite recently that many of the questions connected with the role of \hat{W} have been answered.⁴⁸ A summary of this work is given below.

In this case, the zero-phonon line is described by a Lorentzian function $J(\omega)$. The position of its maximum and its half-width are functions of temperature. This is examined in detail in Secs. 4 and 5. The function $\Phi^{\mathfrak{c}}(\omega)$ for the phonon wing is described by (3.14) with $f(\nu, T)$ defined by (3.7), and (3.8) replaced by the new functions $f^{\mathfrak{c}}(\nu, T)$. Since different normal coordinates

⁹⁾The only exception is the paper by Kubo and Toyazawa,⁴⁰ but practical applications of their results appear to encounter difficulties that cannot be overcome.

correspond to the excited and unexcited states, the functions $f^{0}(v, T)$ and $f^{e}(v, T)$ are different. The phonon wings in conjugate absorption and luminescence bands are therefore found to have different shapes. However, the integrated intensity of conjugate phonon wings is the same. Lack of mirror symmetry of this kind (the shapes are not mirror-symmetric) is the main reason for the importance of the term \tilde{W} in these bands. The other feature associated with \hat{W} is that the functions $f^{\mathfrak{a}}(\nu, 0)$ are not the zero-phonon functions, i.e., their nonzero values are not confined to the one-phonon interval, as in case A. They are, in fact, sums of one-, two-, three-, and so on, phonon functions. However, many-phonon functions can be neglected on the onephonon frequency interval since, for realistic values of \hat{W} , they are much smaller than the one-phonon function $v_1^{\ell}(\nu)$ in this interval.⁴⁸ Hence,

$$g(\mathbf{v}, 0) \equiv f^{g}(\mathbf{v}) \approx v_{1}^{g}(\mathbf{v}). \tag{3.19}$$

The functions $f^{\mathfrak{s}}(\nu)$ can be found from (3.17) by substituting into it the measured functions $\Phi^{\mathfrak{s}}(\omega)$, the shape of the phonon wing, and the integrated zero-phonon line intensity.

Since the perturbation introduced by the impurity into the solvent is very localized, the matrix $\hat{W} = \hat{U}^e - \hat{U}^o$ can have only a few elements that are appreciably different from zero. So far, it has always been assumed in papers concerned with numerical results that the matrix \hat{W} has only the one element $W.^{10}$ This assumption was used to establish a quantitative connection⁴⁸ between the functions $f^{0}(\nu)$ and $f^{e}(\nu)$. By assuming that the density of phonon states was close to the Debye density, we succeeded⁴⁸ in calculating the shape of the onephonon and two-phonon functions. Figure 5 shows the calculated one-phonon functions derived from the exact formula given in our previous paper.48 It is clear that there is no mirror symmetry and that the departure from this symmetry progressively increases with increasing value of the parameter $b = W/v_p^2$, where v_p is the frequency at the limit of the phonon spectrum. According to Fig. 5, b = -0.2 or 0.2 corresponds to quasilocal and local vibration in the absorption spectrum, respectively. This vibration can be present only in an electronically excited impurity center. It is absent from the luminescence spectrum. This new effect has not, so far, been examined experimentally.

There is considerable practical interest in establishing a simple analytic connection between the one-phonon functions $v_1^0(\nu)$ and $v_1^e(\nu)$ which, for |b| < 0.2, are practically identical with the functions $f^0(\nu)$ and $f^e(\nu)$ "extracted" from the phonon wings with the aid of (3.17). These one-phonon functions $v_1^e(\nu)$ after they have been multiplied by the Debye-Waller factor determine the probability of absorption and emission with the creation of one phonon. For practical purposes, we may try the simple expression⁴⁸

317 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

$$v_{1}^{s}(x) = \frac{v_{1}^{s}(x)}{[1 - \beta \Omega(x)]^{2} + [\beta v_{1}^{s}(x), x]^{2}},$$
(3.20)

where

$$\Omega(x) = \oint_{0}^{1} \frac{dy}{\pi} \frac{2r_{1}^{e}(y)}{x^{2} - y^{2}}; \qquad (3.21)$$

x, $y = v/v_D$, v_D is the limit frequency in the one-phonon region, $\beta = W/a^2 v_D^3$, and 2a is the change in the equilibrium separation between the pair of molecules whose elastic constant has changed by W. The validity of (3.20) improves with decreasing W. However, even for $|b| \approx 0.2$, when the departure from mirror symmetry is well defined, the approximate formula given by (3.20) does satisfactorily reproduce the actual departure. This follows from Fig. 5, where the broken curve represents the functions $v_1^0(x)$ and $v_1^e(x)$, associated with (3.20).

The influence of W on the Debye-Waller factor is quite slight. Realistic values of W can change this factor by 10-15% as compared with the W = 0 case.⁴⁸ Thus, the first effect of a change in the strength matrix during excitation of an impurity center is the appearance of a difference between the shape of conjugate phonon wings. If we use (3.20) and the formula

$$\int_{0}^{1} dx v_1^{\mathfrak{s}}(x) \approx a^2 \mathbf{v}_D, \qquad (3.22)$$

together with experimental data on departures from mirror symmetry, we can determine the magnitude and sign of the parameter W. The influence of W on the absolute values of the phonon-wing and zero-phonon line intensities is quite small.

Combined effect of Franck-Condon and Herzberg-Teller coupling

Suppose $a \neq 0$ and $M(\mathbf{R}) \neq \text{const}$, and let us assume that the change in the shape of the Franck-Condon potential surfaces can be neglected. The departure from mirror symmetry that arises in this case is different from that discussed in subsection 2 because the Debye-Waller factor is different for the conjugate absorption and



FIG. 5. Violation of mirror symmetry of one-phonon functions due to the change in the force matrix U during a phototransition. Solid curves are calculated from the exact formulas given in our previous paper;⁴⁸ broken curves are calculated from the approximate formulas in the same paper. The two are related through Eq. (3.20) $(b = W/\nu_D^2, a^2\nu_D = 1)$.

I. S. Osad'ko 317

t to term

¹⁰⁾This approximation does not, of course, signify that we are considering the interaction between impurity-center electrons and only one vibrational mode. This model will satisfactorily describe several realistic physical situations involving phonons.

fluorescent bands, i.e., the areas under the conjugate phonon wings are different (this is the departure from mirror symmetry in area, Fig. 6). This is the most reliable indication of the fact that the phonon wing is due to both types of coupling. When the HT coupling is present, the multiphonon phototransition is no longer expressed in terms of the convolution of identical phonon functions as in subsections 1 and 2, above. Equation (3.17), founded precisely on this property of multiphonon transitions, is therefore no longer valid. However, if the HT coupling is weak enough, so that the parameter characterizing its magnitude is much greater than its square, we may suppose that (3.17) is approximately valid. It then involves the quantity

$$J = \sqrt{J^0 f^\epsilon}, \tag{3.23}$$

where J^{0} and J^{e} are the integrated intensities of the zero-phonon absorption and fluorescence bands, measured on the scale on which the integrated intensities of zero-phonon plus phonon-wing absorption and fluorescence bands are equal to unity. The functions "extracted" from the phonon wing can be approximately described by the following expressions (positive and negative signs refer to f^{0} and f^{e} , respectively):

$$f^{g}(v) \approx v^{g}(v) = \sum_{\kappa} \left(\frac{a_{\kappa}}{2} \pm a_{\kappa}\right)^{2} \delta(v - v_{\kappa}), \qquad (3.24)$$

where

$$\alpha_{\rm x} = \left(\frac{\partial M({\rm R})}{\partial R_{\rm x}} - \frac{1}{M({\rm R})}\right)_{-{\rm a}/2}$$
(3.25)

is the parameter characterizing the influence of the HT coupling on the \times th vibrational mode, and a_x is the shift in the equilibrium position of this oscillator. If we suppose that the electronic matrix element depends only on those coordinates R for which there is a shift in the equilibrium positions during the electronic excitation of the impurity center, then

$$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{x}} \approx \eta \frac{\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{x}}}{2}.$$
 (3.26)

In this approximation, the one-phonon functions $v^{t}(v)$ and their integrated values $v^{t} = -\ln J^{t}$ are given by

$$v^{g}(v) = (1 \pm \eta)^{2} \frac{3N}{2} \xi^{2}(v) \rho(v) = (1 \pm \eta)^{2} v(v), \qquad (3.27)$$

$$2\eta \approx \frac{v^0 - v^e}{v^0 + v^e}, \qquad (3.28)$$
$$v \approx \frac{v^0 + v^e}{v^0 + v^e} \qquad (3.29)$$

The last formula enables us to find the strength of the



FIG. 6. Violation of mirror symmetry of conjugate optical bands at zero temperature due to the combined effect of FS and HT coupling⁴⁷ $(a = \sqrt{2v})$.

318 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

FC coupling, whereas (3.28) yields the relative strength of the HT and the FC coupling. The temperature reduction in the integrated intensity of the zero-phonon line in this case can also be obtained from (3.12) and (3.13), except that the function v(v) in the latter expression must be replaced by the average of $v^0(v)$ and $v^e(v)$. Figure 6 shows the shapes of the absorption and fluorescence bands at T=0, calculated⁴⁷ with the aid of (3.12)-(3.14) and (3.27) for different values of v and η . It is clear that even a small departure from the Condon approximation ($\eta = 0.1$) leads to an appreciable departure from mirror symmetry. The degree of this departure does not depend on the absolute strength of the HT coupling but on the relative strength of the HT and the FC coupling.

In conclusion of our discussion of the use of phonon wings in studies of the electron-phonon coupling, we note that there have been no quantitative experimental studies of structurally conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands. However, the theory given in this subsection shows that it is precisely the study of conjugate phonon wings that can be a source of important and fundamentally new information.

4. TEMPERATURE BROADENING AND THE SHIFT OF ZERO-PHONON LINES

The electron-phonon coupling generates not only the phonon wings but also the temperature broadening and the shift of the zero-phonon lines. Appreciable temperature broadening of the optical zero-phonon lines is the main property that distinguishes them from the Mössbauer γ -lines. Attempts to relate the half-width of the zero-phonon lines corresponding to the first singlet-singlet or singlet-triplet transition to the life-time τ of the excited electronic state with the aid of the formula

$$\gamma = \frac{h}{\tau} \tag{4.1}$$

lead to a contradiction because the observed half-width exceeds the half-width associated with the lifetime given by (4.1) by two or three orders of magnitude.¹¹⁾ This contradiction, and the fact that the half-width of vibronic zero-phonon lines is practically the same as the half-width of the pure electronic zero-phonon line,⁶² lead to the conclusion that the radiative and radiationless transitions are of secondary importance in the broadening of such zero-phonon lines. Various mechanisms have been proposed for the observed half-width of optical zero-phonon lines.83-66 However, none of them has so far received convincing experimental confirmation. Moreover, some of these mechanisms (the fluctuation mechanism^{63, 64} and the anharmonic mechanism⁶⁶) have raised some theoretical objections.^{67, 78} In this review, therefore, we shall confine our attention to the mechanism proposed by Silsbee.65 This temperature broadening mechanism, sometimes referred to as the Raman or the modulation mechanism, will be referred to in this paper as the adiabatic mechanism in

¹¹)We note the paper by Korotaev *et al.*,⁶¹ in which it is shown that the T-T absorption bands of certain complex molecules have the Lorentz shape and half-widths approximately equal to $300-400 \text{ cm}^{-4}$.

order to emphasize the fact that it can produce the zero-phonon line broadening in the adiabatic approximation.¹²⁾ There is little doubt as to the validity of this mechanism.

In 1962, Silsbee showed⁶⁵ that the second moment of the optical line depends on temperature if the change in W of the force matrix of the crystal during electronic excitation of an impurity center is different from zero. Later, McCumber and Sturge⁶⁹ and Krivoglaz⁶⁶ used a perturbation theory in W to derive a formula for the temperature dependence of the half-width $\gamma(T)$ and shift $\delta(T)$ of the zero-phonon line. In the course of the subsequent years, the problem of broadening, shift, and shape of the zero-phonon line was examined without the use of perturbation theory in W, and the following formula was derived for the temperature broadening and shift of the zero-phonon line of Lorentz shape^{70, 47}:

$$\frac{\gamma(T)}{2} + i\delta(T) = i\delta(0) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{2\pi} \ln\left(1 + \frac{i2Wn(v)\Gamma(v)}{1 - W\Omega(v) - iW\Gamma(v)}\right).$$
(4.2)

It was assumed in the derivation of this formula that the matrix \widehat{W} had only one nonzero element (see footnote 10). The function $\Gamma(\nu)$ can be approximately expressed⁴⁸ in terms of the one-phonon function $v_1^e(\nu)$ as follows:

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{v_1^*(\mathbf{v})}{a^2 \mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{D}} \mathbf{v}}, \qquad (4.3)$$

and the function $\Omega(\nu)$ is given by (3.21). Recently, the present author and S. A. Zhdanov obtained a generalization of (4.2) to the case where \hat{W} is a matrix of arbitrary rank:

$$\frac{\tilde{\gamma}(T)}{2} + i\delta(T) = i\delta(0) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{2\pi} \ln\left\{\operatorname{Det}\left(\hat{I} + \frac{i2n(v)\hat{W}\hat{\Gamma}(v)}{\hat{I} - \hat{W}\hat{\Omega}(v) + i\hat{W}\hat{\Gamma}(v)}\right)\right\}.$$
(4.4)

It is important to note that all numerical calculations of the temperature broadening and shift have so far been based on the assumption that \hat{W} is a matrix of rank 1. We have therefore confined our attention to this case in the present review. Numerical calculations based on (4.2) and an examination of this expression are given in the literature.⁷¹⁻⁷³ Figure 7 shows some of the numerical results. The most important conclusion of this analysis and of the analysis given in Ref. 47 are summarized below.

A. Shape of the zero-phonon line and dependence of the shape on W only

If the only assumption we make is that the function $\Gamma(\nu)$ in (4.2) is bounded, we can show that the zerophonon line of an isolated impurity center should have the Lorentz shape.¹³⁾ The half-widths $\gamma(T)$ and shift $\delta(T)$ of the line position as functions of temperature are given by (4.2) and (4.4). The shift **a** in the positions of equilibrium of the oscillators, and also the HT coupling

319 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979



1.11.1

FIG. 7. Temperature broadening of the zero-phonon line, calculated from Eq. (4.2). The function $\Gamma(x)$ is shown on the right in each case. The upper $\Gamma(x)$ is area-normalized to unity and the lower is normalized so that $\int_0^{\infty} dx \ x \Gamma(x) = \pi$. The numbers against the $\gamma(T)$ curves are the corresponding values of the parameter $b = W/\nu_D^2 \theta = k\nu_D$.

which plays a dominant role in the appearance of the phonon wings, do not affect the temperature broadening or the shift of the zero-phonon line. This means that the appearance of the phonon wings and the temperature broadening and shift of the zero-phonon lines are due to different terms in the electron-phonon coupling.⁴⁷

B. Connection between zero-phonon lines in conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands

This is not a trivial question because the optical zerophonon line is not due to a phototransition without a change in the state of the phonon subsystem (as in the case of the Mössbauer γ -line). Theoretical analysis shows that the half-width and shift of the zero-phonon lines in conjugate absorption and luminescence bands are given by expressions that are superficially different.⁴⁷ However, it can be shown⁴⁷ that they do, in fact, give the same numerical results, i.e., the zero-phonon lines in conjugate bands exhibit resonance behavior at any temperature and are broadened in the same way, with

$$\gamma(0) = 0.$$
 (4.5)

C. Connection between equation (4.2) and approximate expressions

The perturbation theory in W is valid if

$$W\Gamma_m \ll 1$$
, (4.6)

where Γ_m is the maximum value of the weighted density of phonon states $\Gamma(\nu)$. In the first nonvanishing approximation in W, the expression given by (4.2) leads to the following formulas for weak temperature broadening and shift^{66,69}:

$$\begin{cases} \delta(T) = W \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{\pi} \Gamma(v) n(v), \\ \gamma(T) = 2W^{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{\pi} \Gamma^{2}(v) n(v) (n(v) + 1). \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

I. S. Osad'ko 319

r in inne

¹²)Nonadiabatic broadening mechanisms have frequently been discussed in the literature. References can be found in a book by Perlin and Tsukerblat.⁹

¹³⁾The half-width of the zero-phonon line can be associated with a lifetime but there is no simple physical interpretation that can be given to this lifetime.

If we use the Debye approximation for the phonon spectrum in these formulas and substitute $\Gamma(\nu/\nu_D) = 3\pi(\nu/\nu_D)^3$, where ν_D is the Debye frequency, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \delta(T) = \mathbf{v}_D \cdot 3b \left(\frac{T}{\Theta}\right)^4 \int_0^{\Theta/T} \frac{x^3 \, dx}{e^x - 1}, \\ \gamma(T) = \mathbf{v}_D \cdot 18\pi b^2 \left(\frac{T}{\Theta}\right)^7 \int_0^{\Theta/T} \frac{x^6 e^x \, dx}{(e^x - 1)^2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

where Θ is the Debye temperature and $b = W/\nu_D^2$ is a dimensionless parameter. These expressions are very frequently used in the analysis of experimental data. They involve the two parameters b and Θ .

The sharper the peaks in the function $\Gamma(\nu)$, the more difficult it is to satisfy condition (4.6). For example, if the crystal vibrations include a well-localized vibration ν_i , then $\Gamma(\nu) \approx \delta(\nu - \nu_i)$. It then follows from (4.7) that $\gamma(T) = \infty$. This meaningless result is an illustration of the fact that the perturbation theory in W is not correct in the presence of strongly localized vibrations.¹⁴ If, however, we suppose that the vibration is not strictly localized and has a half-width $2\gamma_i$, i.e.,

$$\Gamma(\mathbf{v}) \approx \frac{1}{\mathbf{v}_l} \frac{\gamma_l}{(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_l)^2 + \gamma_l^3}, \qquad (4.9)$$

then (4.7) leads to the formulas first established by Krivoglaz⁶⁶:

$$\begin{cases} \delta(T) = v_l \frac{W}{v_l^3} n(v_l), \\ \gamma(T) = v_l \frac{W}{v_l^2} \frac{W}{v_l \gamma_l} n(v_l) \{n(v_l) + 1\}. \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

These expressions have frequently been used in the analysis of experimental data.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ The condition for their validity is

$$\frac{W}{v_l v_l} \ll 1, \tag{4.11}$$

which follows from (4.6).

At low enough temperatures, for which $n(\nu) \ll 1$ for all frequencies for which $\Gamma(\nu)$ differs appreciably from zero, we can expand the integrand in (4.2) into a series in $n(\nu)$ and obtain the following expression for the lowtemperature broadening and shift⁷⁷:

$$\delta(T) - i \frac{\gamma(T)}{2} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dv}{\pi} n(v) \frac{W\Gamma(v)}{1 - W\Omega(v) + iW\Gamma(v)}.$$
(4.12)

This expression has also been used in the interpretation of experimental data.^{33, 76, 79}

D. "Limiting" and weak broadening

The exact formula given by (4.2) has one very important property, namely, it predicts a bounded rate of temperature broadening, i.e., the rate of temperature broadening $\Delta_{\gamma}/\Delta T$ ceases to increase for practical purposes with increasing W for relatively small values of W. Numerical calculations show⁷³ that the maximum achievable rate of temperature broadening is 0.3 cm⁻¹/ deg, i.e.,

$$\frac{\Delta \gamma}{\Delta T} \leqslant 0.3 \text{ cm}^{-1}/\text{deg}. \tag{4.13}$$

The formula given by (4.2) can also be used to determine the limit for the rate of temperature broadening

320 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

that can be described by (4.7), (4.8), and (4.10). Comparison of the broadening calculated from the exact formula (4.2) with that obtained from the approximate formula (4.7) has shown⁷³ that, when

$$\frac{\Delta \gamma}{\Delta T} \leqslant 0.05 \text{ cm}^{-1}/\text{deg}$$
(4.14)

the approximate and exact curves may be regarded as very close to one another. The condition given by (4.14) may therefore be looked upon as the upper limit for weak temperature broadening.

The temperature shift of the zero-phonon line due to a change in W of the force matrix is less than the temperature broadening. It occurs in the direction of the red part of the spectrum, if elastic forces become weaker (W < 0), and in the violet direction, if they become stronger (W > 0) during the excitation of the impurity center.

5. EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES OF SHIFT AND BROADENING OF THE ZERO-PHONON LINE. AND COMPARISON WITH THEORY

We must now consider the extent to which the theoretical treatments summarized in the last section agree with experimental results. The shape of the zero-phonon line and its broadening and shift have been the subject of many experimental investigations.^{26-31,33,62,74-76,80-84,87-89}

A. Shape of zero-phonon line

ł

The shape of the zero-phonon line has often been studied. For example, Al'shits et al.⁸⁰ have established that the zero-phonon line of perylene in n-octane and 1, 12-benzperylene in n-hexane has the Gaussian shape at 4.2 °K, and that its half-width is very dependent on the way in which the impurity crystal has been prepared and amounts to a few cm⁻¹. The line shape gradually changes as the temperature is increased, and eventually assumes the Lorentz shape at 40 °K. At intermediate temperatures, it can be described by the Voigt curve with the Gauss parameter independent of temperature and the Lorentz parameter decreasing rapidly with increasing temperature. All this enabled these workers to assign the Gaussian component to inhomogeneous broadening and the Lorentz component to W.

Freiberg²⁷ investigated the shape of one of the vibronic zero-phonon lines of 0_2^- in KCl crystals and showed that the zero-phonon line shape was already described by the Voigt shape at 4.2 °K with the Gauss and Lorentz parameters having comparable values and being very dependent on the method of preparation of the crystal.²⁷ On this basis, the entire half-width of the zero-phonon line (a few cm⁻¹ at 4.2 °K) was assigned to inhomogeneous broadening. The Gaussian component was assigned to dislocations and the Lorentz component to point defects because these components depended on the dislocation density and the density of point defects, respectively.

These results indicate that the half-width of the zerophonon line, which amounts to a few cm⁻¹ at 4.2 K is due to inhomogeneous broadening. It is, nevertheless,

¹⁴⁾According to the more accurate formula given by (4.2), the interaction with the perfectly localized vibrations does not contribute to the ZPL half-width.⁷³

interesting to consider the homogeneous half-width of the zero-phonon line at this temperature. The recently discovered effect of hole burning in inhomogeneous broadened lines^{82, 85, 86} can be used to resolve this problem. It was found⁸² that the homogeneous half-width of the 0-0 zero-phonon line of perylene in ethanol at 4.2 °K is approximately 0.3 cm⁻¹. The same method was used to establish⁸⁶ that the homogeneous half-width of the 6940 Å zero-phonon line of H_2 -phthalocyanine in *n*-octane at 5 °K is 0.03 cm⁻¹. Its half-width is lower by a factor of a hundred than the inhomogeneous broadening seen in the fluorescence spectrum under usual excitation with a lamp.

Thus, although the homogeneous half-width of the zero-phonon line at 4.2 °K is very much smaller than the inhomogeneous line width, it is, nevertheless, greater by one or two orders of magnitude than the radiative half-width, whose relation to the lifetime is given by (4.1). Since (4.2) predicts that $\gamma \neq 0$ at 4.2 °K, we may suppose that this residual homogeneous halfwidth may be due to the adiabatic mechanism. To verify this suggestion, Voelker et al.⁷⁶ have measured the temperature dependence of the homogeneous half-width of the zero-phonon line of H_2 -porphin in *n*-octane in the range 1.4-4.2 °K. By approximating the experimental points with the theoretical curve for $\gamma(T)$, calculated from (4.10), it was found that the residual half-width at zero temperature was $\gamma \approx 3 \times 10^{-4}$ cm⁻¹. The relation between this and the lifetime of the electronic excitation in the H_2 -porphin molecule is, in fact, given by (4.1). Similar studies of the residual half-width of the zerophonon line using its temperature dependence in the range 4.2-30 °K have been reported by Gorochovski and Rebane,75

B. Temperature broadening and shift of zero-phonon lines in conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands

There is very little published information in this field. Figure 8 shows the data reported by Personov and Solodunov,⁸¹ which show that the temperature dependence of the maximum of the quasilines is different in the absorption and the fluorescence spectra. This departure from resonance behavior is in conflict with the predictions of the theory. It is probably due to the fact that the zero-phonon line was not separated from the phonon background in these quasilines.⁸¹ A special study of the temperature dependence of the zero-phonon lines in conjugate spectra has been reported by Sheka



FIG. 8. Temperature broadening and shift of the 4030 Å quasiline due to 3,4-benzpyrene in n-octane:⁸¹ 1—absorption line; 2-fluorescence line.

321 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

and Meletov.³⁶ Their measurements of the half-width and shift of the zero-phonon lines in conjugate spectra of three different impurity molecules confirm the theoretical prediction that the zero-phonon lines on conjugate spectra are identical.

C. Method used to compare measured and calculated half-widths

The method used to compare measured and calculated half-widths must be carefully examined because it often turns out to be suspect. In the great majority of experimental papers, temperature broadening is compared with the simple formulas given by (4.8) and (4.10). These formulas contain two parameters, namely, W, which characterizes the electron-phonon coupling, and the parameter Θ or ν_i , which characterizes the phonon, the interaction with which is responsible for the broadening of the zero-phonon line. The choice of phonon parameters Θ or ν_i is often a matter of controversy, and the temperature curve $\gamma(T)$ is very dependent on the magnitude of the parameters in the temperature range under consideration. In most cases, no restriction is imposed in these papers on the magnitude of the coupling parameter W, although a restriction on its magnitude does exist. It is defined by (4.14). Agreement between theoretical and experimental data obtained under these conditions may well turn out to be fortuitous. At the very least, it provides no foundation for the conclusion that the adiabatic mechanism of temperature broadening has been experimentally confirmed. This is illustrated by the data shown in Table I. Experimental data on the broadening of all the zero-phonon lines other than the 4518 Å line have been interpreted in terms of (4.8) or (4.10) either by the workers who obtained these data or by other workers. The penultimate column of the table shows the mean rate of temperature broadening of the zero-phonon lines which we have calculated from the corresponding experimental points. Comparison of these rates with the theoretical criteria given by (4.13) and (4.14), which follow from the formula given by (4.2) which is more accurate than (4.8)and (4.10), shows that there is even a qualitative dis-

TABLE I. Data on zero-phonon lines of organic impurity crystals whose temperature broadening has been compared with theory.

Impurity molecule	Spec- trum	λ ZPL Å	Solvent	Temperature range	$\frac{\Delta \gamma}{\Delta T},$ cm ⁻¹ /deg	Ref- er- ence
1,12-benzperyiene 3,4-benzpyrene Peryiene 1,2-benzpyrene Naphthantrone Dibenzperopyrene Coronene	Fluor. * * * *	4060 4030 4454 3876 4191 4138 4446	n-hexane n-octane n-hexane * *	T > 77 °K. ditto * * * * * *	0.9 0.8 1.2 0.8 0.7 1.0 0.6	61 ,83 68
1,12-benzperylene Perylene Anthracene Coronene Phenylmonoase-azulene Azulene Naphthalene Anthracene H2-porphyrin * H2-tetra-4 Tert-butylphthalocyanine	Fluor. » Conj.abs. » Phosph. Conj.abs. » »	4060 4518 5567 4449 5567 7000 4698 3925 6123 6135 6146 6149 6930	n-hexane n-octane n-heptane Terphenyl Naphthalene Benzophenone Naphthalene n-octane * * Tetradecane	T < 77 ° K $T < 77 ° K$ $T < 77 ° K$ $T < 30 ° K$ $T < 30 ° K$ $T < 30 ° K$ $T < 20 ° K$ $T < 20 ° K$ $T < 20 ° K$ $T < 4.2 ° K$ $1.4 ° K < T < 4.2 ° K$ $1.4 ° K < T < 4.2 ° K$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.05\\ 0.25\\ 0.10\\ 0.15\\ 0.10\\ 0.15\\ 0.17\\ 10^{-4}\\ 2.10^{-3}\\ 10^{-3}\\ 10^{-4}\\ 0.02 \end{array}$	80 31 38 30 76 75

crepancy between theory and experiment for T > 77 °K. At low temperatures (T < 77 °K), there is no qualitative discrepancy, but the broadening can in no way be said to be in general agreement with the approximate formulas given by (4.8) or (4.10). The temperature broadening of the zero-phonon lines in the low-temperature region is still more rapid for many of the alkali halide crystals. Table II shows the rate of temperature broadening for several zero-phonon lines investigated by Rebane and Freiberg.^{27, 28, 74} In practically all these cases, the criterion given by (4.13) is not satisfied.

Thus, comparison of the measured temperature broadening with calculations based on (4.2) shows a discrepancy at high temperatures in the case of organic crystals, and even at low temperatures in the case of alkali-halide crystals. This discrepancy has not previously been noted, which shows that the approximate formulas given by (4.8) and (4.10) have a high degree of approximational flexibility in the comparison between theory and experiment. The discrepancy also shows that the origin of the broadening of zero-phonon lines can be established with the aid of (4.2) and the ensuing (4.8) and (4.10) alone. The reason for the discrepancy is still not clear. Additional theoretical and experimental studies are clearly necessary.

D. Importance of the adiabatic mechanism of broadening of zero-phonon lines

This can be reliably demonstrated only by a simultaneous experimental investigation of departures from mirror symmetry of phonon wings in conjugate absorption and fluorescence bands, on the one hand, and the temperature broadening of zero-phonon lines, on the other. In fact, a change in the force matrix will produce both a departure from mirror symmetry of the phonon wings and a broadening of the zero-phonon lines. Consequently, there must be a quantitative correlation between these two effects. A qualitative connection between the departure from mirror symmetry of phonon wings and temperature broadening of zero-phonon lines was established in our previous paper.48 It is expressed by the fact that (4.2) and (3.20) involve the same theoretical parameter $\beta = W/a^2 v_D^3$ and the function $v_1^e(v)$. If the latter function is "extracted" from the fluorescence phonon wing and if by suitably choosing the parameter β it is possible to achieve agreement between the function $v_1^0(v)$ calculated from (3.20) and the function "extracted" from the phonon wing of the absorption band, this will undoubtedly show that the departure from mirror symmetry of conjugate phonon wings is, in fact, due to a change in the shape of the Franck-Condon

TABLE II. Rate of temperature broadening of the zero-phonon lines of certain impurity centers in alkali halide matrices.

Crystal with impurity	$\frac{\Delta\gamma}{\Delta T}$, c					
	T < 20 °K	Ť > 20 °K	γ (4.2 °K), cm ⁻¹			
KCl+02	0.12	0,35	3			
$\frac{KI+O_2}{CsBr+O_2}$	0.30	1.00 0.50	3 2			
KBr+0 <u>-</u> KI+S <u>-</u>	0.50 0.60	1,00	13 6			

potential surface. The expression given by (4.2), which describes the temperature broadening of the zero-phonon lines, will not then contain free parameters and unknown functions. If the theoretical curve calculated from this formula is close to the experimental points, this will reliably indicate the presence of the adiabatic mechanism of broadening of the zero-phonon line. Unfortunately, simultaneous experimental studies of the temperature broadening and violations of mirror symmetry of the phonon wings have not as yet been performed.

E. Temperature shift of zero-phonon lines

The shift calculated from (4.2) does not, as a rule, agree with experimental data. This shows that there is some shift mechanism which was not taken into account in (4.2). Fitchen⁸⁹ has noted that the ZPL shift must depend on the thermal expansion of the crystal lattice of the solvent. In fact, it is well known that the electronic level separation in a molecule is very dependent on its interaction with the surroundings. Thermal expansion modifies the interaction with the environment and leads to a change in the electronic excitation energy and hence to change in the ZPL shift. Fitchen⁸⁹ has suggested that

$$\left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial T}\right)_{P} = \left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial T}\right)_{V} - \frac{\alpha \left(T\right)}{\kappa \left(T\right)} \left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial P}\right)_{T},$$
(5.1)

which relates the measured shift $(\partial E/\partial T)_P$ to the shift $(\partial E/\partial T)_V$ due to the electron/phonon coupling. The second term describes the shift due to thermal expansion in terms of the volume expansion coefficient $\alpha(T)$, the isothermal compressibility x(T), and the pressure shift $(\partial E/\partial P)_T$. The pressure shifts of some of the zerophonon lines have been measured and it was shown that the second term in (5.1) was comparable with the first.⁹⁰

6. DETERMINATION OF THE VIBRONIC INTERACTION FROM STRUCTURED VIBRONIC SPECTRA

The vibronic interaction in the adiabatic approximation consists of the shift a in the positions of equilibrium of intramolecular oscillators (FC coupling) and the dependence of the electronic matrix element M on the intramolecular vibrational coordinates R_{\star} (HT coupling). Intramolecular vibrations correspond to dis- \prime crete frequencies Ω_{x} , separated from one another by finite frequency intervals. The vibronic interaction cannot, therefore, broaden optical bands. It simply "stretches" the optical spectrum along the frequency scale. If we were able to include the electron-phonon coupling, we would be in a position to obtain the spectrum of the impurity center consisting of narrow vibronic zero-phonon lines corresponding to phototransitions with the creation of quanta of intramolecular vibrations.¹⁵ Weak electron-phonon coupling produces a

¹⁶) Byrne and Ross³¹ have listed the following twelve reasons for the diffuseness of optical spectra of polyatomic molecules in the vapor phase: (1) dissociation; (2) ionization; (3) predissociation; (4) autodissociation; (5) preisomerization; (6) anharmonicity of vibrations; (7) electronic relaxation; (8) high density of vibrational levels (vibrational congestion); (9) high density of electronic levels; (10) nonuniform isotopic composition of the vapor; (11) molecular rotation; (12) vibrational sequences. The only reason for the broadening of optical lines can be the interaction between the electrons in the molecule and the continuum of states. Therefore, the first four effects should, in fact, lead to a broadening of the

low-intensity phonon wing which then accompanies each vibronic zero-phonon line (Fig. 9a). In the simplest case, where the HT coupling is absent and the vibrations are harmonic, the vibronic band consisting of the zero-phonon line and the accompanying phonon wing is an exact replica of the 0-0 band (this is the similarity rule). Departures from this rule have been examined experimentally by Rebane et al.95,96 They explain them in terms of the anharmonism of the vibrations. We shall consider below the intensity distribution in the vibronic spectrum by ignoring the phonon wing. If, however, the experimental spectrum contains an appreciable contribution of band intensity to the phonon wing (Fig. 9b), the integrated intensity, assigned below to the vibronic zero-phonon line alone, must be interpreted as referring to the entire vibronic band, i.e., zero-phonon line plus the phonon wing.

The intensity distribution in the vibronic spectrum can be described qualitatively by a model in which the completely symmetric (CS) vibrations appear in the optical spectrum because of the shifts a_s^{CS} in the equilibrium positions of the corresponding oscillators and the non completely symmetric (NCS) vibrations because of the dependence of M on the corresponding NCS coordinates. Within the framework of this theoretical model, the distribution of intensity in conjugate vibronic absorption and fluorescence spectra should be mirrorsymmetric. However, there are many examples of violations of this symmetry. One is shown in Fig. 10. It is clear that the explanation of such phenomena will require a more complicated vibronic interaction and, in particular, it will be necessary to take into account the dependence of the electronic matrix element M on the CS vibrational coordinates. The dependence of M on the CS coordinates may lead to different intensities of CS vibronic peaks in the absorption and fluorescence spectra, i.e., to the departure from mirror symmetry. This was pointed out already in 1941 by Sponer and Wollman,⁹⁷ but the point was subsequently forgotten. About eight years ago, Craig and Small⁹⁸ and, independently, Osad'ko,99 again drew attention to it. The effect of this more generalized vibronic interaction on optical spectra of impurity centers has in recent years been the subject of a number of experimental and theoretical investigations.^{47, 100, 101} The most important results of these studies are discussed below.

The intensity distribution $I^{0}(\omega)$ in the absorption spectrum and the intensity $I^{e}(\omega)$ of the conjugate lumines-



FIG. 9. Structured vibronic fluorescence spectra at 4.2 °K: (a) 1, 12-benzperylene in *n*-hexane;²⁵ (b) PO_2^- in KCl.¹²⁶

cence spectrum are given by the following general for-mulas 47

This formula takes into account the shift a_x in the positions of equilibrium of the normal coordinates R_x , the dependence of M on R_x , without limitation on a_x , and the form of the functional dependence of M on R_x . The upper sign in (6.1) refers to absorption and the lower to emission. The first term describes 0-0 zero-phonon lines and the subsequent terms describe, respectively, the one-, two-, and three-quantum, etc. delta-type vibronic zero-phonon line or, more precisely, of the entire vibronic band, is given by the square of the bracketed expression associated with the corresponding delta function. Derivatives of $L(\mathbf{R})$ at the origin are the parameters characterizing the HT coupling. They are related to the derivatives of $M(\mathbf{R})$ with respect to R_x ,



FIG. 10. Conjugate optical spectra of chrysene in *n*-heptane at 77 K with different intensity distributions.¹⁰⁵ The 0-0 lines are the resonance lines.

323 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

lines and the fifth through seventh should have no effect on the broadening. Undoubtedly, the eighth through twelfth effects facilitate the broadening of the real optical spectrum but the role of some of them has been overstimated. For example, Byrne and Ross quote vibrational congestion as the reason for the spreading of the optical spectrum of chlorophyll, but the most recent spectroscopic data indicate the presence of fine structure in the electronic-vibrational spectra of chlorophyll.³²⁻⁶⁴ The translational or rotational motion of a molecule or its components is transformed in solid matrices into the vibrational (phonon) motion. Phonons are also associated with the continuum of states, so that electronphonon coupling is the only possible reason for the inhomogeneous broadening of the optical lines of an impurity center.

as follows:

$$\left(\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}} \dots \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}_{k}}} L(\mathbf{R})\right)_{\mathbf{R}=0} = e^{-a^{2}/8} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\mathbf{R}}{(2\pi)^{N/2}} e^{-R^{2}/2} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}} \dots \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}_{k}}} M\left(\mathbf{R}-\frac{\mathbf{a}}{2}\right). \quad (6.2)$$

From (6.2) and the fact that $i_0 = 1$ and

$$i_{k} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dR_{n}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} R_{n}^{2k} e^{-R_{n}^{2}/2} = 1 \cdot 3 \cdot 5 \cdot \ldots \cdot (2k-1) \ (k=1, 2, 3, \ldots), \ (6.3)$$

we can easily obtain the connection between the derivatives of L at the origin and the derivatives of M at the point -a/2 lying midway between the position of equilibrium 0 and -a, which correspond to the unexcited and excited impurity centers, respectively. For example, if $M(\mathbf{R}) = (M(0) + \sum_{x} (\partial M/\partial R_{x})_{0}R_{x})$, then

$$+\sum_{\mathbf{x}} \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}}}\right)_{0}^{R} \mathbf{x}, \text{ to} \\ \begin{cases} L\left(0\right) = e^{-a^{2}/8} \left[M\left(0\right) - \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}}}\right)_{0} \frac{a_{\mathbf{x}}}{2}\right]_{\mathbf{b}} = e^{-a^{2}/8} M\left(-\frac{a}{2}\right), \\ \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}}}\right)_{0} = e^{-a^{2}/8} \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}}}\right)_{0} = e^{-a^{2}/8} \left(\frac{\partial M}{\partial R_{\mathbf{x}}}\right)_{-a/2}. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{6.4}$$

The formula given by (6.1) will provide the answer to any question relating to the vibronic optical spectrum of the displacements a_x in the positions of equilibrium and the dependence of M on R_{\downarrow} . Practical application of (6.1) proceeds along the following lines: (1) the theoretical model is selected, i.e., a set of nonzero parameters is chosen for (6.1); (2) these parameters are then calculated by comparing the coefficients in front of the delta functions in (6.1) with measured intensities of vibronic peaks; (3) a check is made on the chosen parameters by comparing the calculated and measured intensities of the vibronic peaks used to determine the parameters. Two criteria are used in choosing the theoretical model, namely, it must provide a qualitative explanation of the leading features of the conjugate absorption and luminescence spectra and it must be the simplest possible model.

(a) If the electronic transition is allowed and the conjugate absorption and luminescence spectra are mirrorsymmetric, the simplest model capable of describing this situation is:

$$a_{s}^{\rm CS} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{n}^{\rm NCS}} \neq 0.$$
 (6.5)

According to this model,

$$I^{g}(\omega) = L^{2}(0) I^{g}_{FC}(\omega) + \sum_{n} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{n}^{NCS}}\right)^{2} I^{g}_{FC}(\omega \mp \Omega_{n}^{NCS}), \qquad (6.6)$$

-08

where

$$I_{FC}^{\ell}(\omega) = \delta(\omega - \varepsilon) + \sum_{s} \left(\frac{a_{s}^{CS}}{2}\right)^{2} \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{s}^{CS}) + \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{s,s'} \left(\frac{a_{s}^{CS}}{2}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{a_{s'}^{CS}}{2}\right)^{2} \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{s}^{CS} \mp \Omega_{s'}^{CS})$$
(6.7)

is the function describing the Franck-Condon intensity distribution in CS progressions. For a single progression, (6.7) gives the well-known intensity distribution

$$\frac{I_k}{I_0} = \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{a}{2}\right)^{2k}.$$
(6.8)

NCS vibrations appear as one-quantum peaks acting as "spurious origins" for different CS progressions. The intensity distribution in a CS progression is similar for 0-0 zero-phonon lines and one-quantum vibronic peaks.

(b) If the electronic transition is allowed and the mir-

324 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979 ror symmetry in CS progressions developing from 0-0 zero-phonon lines is violated (see Fig. 10), the simplest theoretical model capable of explaining this situation is

$$a_s^{\rm CS} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_n^{\rm NCS}} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_s^{\rm CS}} \neq 0.$$
 (6.9)

In this case.

$$f_{s}^{g}(\omega) = \sum_{n} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{n}^{\text{NCS}}}\right)_{0}^{2} I_{\text{FC}}^{g}(\omega \mp \Omega_{n}^{\text{NCS}}) + L^{2}(0) \left[\delta(\omega - \varepsilon) + \sum_{s} \left(\frac{a_{s}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \pm \alpha_{s}^{\text{CS}}\right)^{2} \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{s}^{\text{CS}}) + \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{s,s'} \left(\frac{a_{s}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \frac{a_{s'}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \pm \frac{a_{s}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \alpha_{s'}^{\text{CS}} \pm \frac{a_{s'}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \alpha_{s'}^{\text{CS}}\right)^{2} \times \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{s}^{\text{CS}} \mp \Omega_{s'}^{\text{CS}}) + \dots \left], \quad (6.10)$$
where

$$\alpha_s^{CS} = \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_s^{CS}}\right)_0 \frac{1}{L(0)}$$
(6.11)

is the parameter describing the violation of mirror symmetry in CS progressions developing from the 0-0 zero-phonon line. The intensity distribution in these progressions is no longer of the Franck-Condon kind. However, similar progressions developing from onequantum vibronic NCS peaks do have the Franck-Condon intensity distribution (this is the violation of the similarity rule).

(c) If the electronic transition is forbidden (or weak), and the mirror symmetry in CS progressions developing from one-quantum vibronic peaks is violated, the simplest theoretical model capable of describing the situation is

$$a_s^{CS} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_s^{CS}} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_n^{NCS}} \neq 0, \quad \frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial R_n^{NCS} \partial R_s^{CS}} \neq 0.$$
 (6.12)

Within the framework of this model.

$$I^{g}(\omega) = \sum_{\bullet} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}} \right)_{0}^{2} I_{\text{FC}}^{g}(\omega \mp \Omega_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}) + \sum_{n} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{n}^{\text{NCS}}} \right)_{0}^{2} \left[\delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{n}^{\text{NCS}}) + \sum_{\bullet} \left(\frac{a_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \pm \alpha_{\bullet}(n) \right)^{2} \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{n}^{\text{NCS}} \mp \Omega_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}) + \frac{1}{2!} \sum_{i,s,s'} \left(\frac{a_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}}{2} - \frac{a_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \pm \frac{a_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \alpha_{s'}(n) \pm \frac{a_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}}{2} \alpha_{\bullet}(n) \right)^{2} \times \delta(\omega - \varepsilon \mp \Omega_{n}^{\text{NCS}} \mp \Omega_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}} \mp \Omega_{\bullet}^{\text{CS}}) + \dots \right]. \quad (6.13)$$

In CS progressions developing from one-quantum CS peaks, the intensity distribution is of the Franck-Condon type and is mirror-symmetric, whereas, in cs progressions developing from one-quantum NCS peaks, the distribution is not of the Franck-Condon type and mirror symmetry is violated. The "anti-Condon" parameter is

$$\alpha_s(n) = \left(\frac{\partial^2 L(\mathbf{R})}{\partial R_s^{\mathbf{CS}} \partial R_n^{\mathbf{NCS}}}\right)_0 \left(\frac{\partial L(\mathbf{R})}{\partial R_n^{\mathbf{NCS}}}\right)_0^{-1}$$
(6.14)

and depends not only on the subscript s of the CS vibration but also on the subscript n associated with the "spurious origin." Other possible theoretical models can be examined in a similar fashion.

It is well known that the presence of a finite HT coupling may be regarded as evidence for the fact that the first electronic excited state is influenced by the second, third, and so on state. A nonzero derivative $\partial L/$ ∂R_s^{cs} signifies that the first excited state is appreciably affected by the higher electronic states of the same

symmetry as the first. The second excited state of organic molecules is usually found to have different symmetry compared with the first; a nonzero $\partial L / \partial R_s^{CS}$ shows that the higher electronic states are important. This has been investigated by Bolotnikova and El'mi-kova.¹⁰³ They have analyzed the parameter

$$\beta_h = \frac{M_{0h}/M_{01}}{\epsilon_h - \epsilon_1}, \qquad (6.15)$$

where c_k and M_{0k} are the energy of the kth electronic level of the impurity molecule and the electronic matrix element for the k = 0 transition. The magnitude of the parameter was investigated for 14 organic molecules. Since M_{ok} increases with increasing k, the coefficients $\beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4$ were found to be of the same order, i.e, $\beta_2 \simeq \beta_3 \simeq \beta_4 \simeq \beta$. The molecules that were investigated were divided into two groups, in accordance with the value of β . Molecules in the first group (anthracene, naphthacene, perylene, and anthanthrene) have $\beta \simeq 10^{-4}$ -10⁻⁵ cm and their conjugate spectra are mirror-symmetric. Molecules in the second group (benzene, naphthalene, phenanthrene, pyrene, chrysene, 1, 2, -benzpyrene, 3, 4-benzpyrene, 1, 12-benzperylene) have values of β that are greater by an order of magnitude, and the mirror symmetry of their conjugate spectra is violated.

The formula given by (6.1) and the various special cases that follow from it have frequently been used to analyze experimental data.¹⁰²⁻¹¹¹ Gradyushko et al.^{106, 109} have found that all the CS vibrations appear with different intensities in the absorption and fluorescence conjugate spectra of H_2 -phthalocyanine (these spectra consist mainly of one-phonon vibronic peaks), whereas all the NCS vibrations appear with the same intensity. In most papers, the vibronic interaction was investigated, nevertheless, on the basis of the intensity distribution in only one of the spectra (fluorescence or phosphorescence).^{102, 107, 108, 110, 111} The absence of the conjugate spectrum does, of course, impede the study of these effects because it reduces the number of independent experimental data. The associated difficulties and ways of overcoming them are analyzed in the literature.^{107,110,111} It has been shown that, when the vibronic spectrum contains a substantial number of overtones, it is possible to choose unambiguously a theoretical model capable of predicting the spectrum under investigation. Theoretical analysis of the intensity distribution with the aid of formulas such as (6.1) is useful in finding answers to various questions. For example, Korotaeva and Naumova¹¹⁰ have shown that, when a heavy atom is introduced into the solvent molecule, the vibronic spin-orbit interaction in the impurity molecule is modified to a greater extent than the purely electronic spin-orbit interaction. Gastilovich et al.¹⁰⁸ have identified definite groups of atoms as being responsible for the vibronic interaction. Nersesova and Shtrokirkh¹¹¹ have not only confirmed the simultaneous effects of CS and NCS vibrations in strong vibronic peaks at 500 and 700 cm⁻¹ in the fluorescence spectrum of naphthalene but have also found the percentage contribution of these vibrations to the intensity of these peaks. The above work has thus demonstrated that quantitative studies of the intensity distribution in structured vibronic spectra with the aid of

(6.1) provides us with new possibilities and with solutions to many questions that have so far been in dispute.

7. SPECTRA OF IMPURITY CENTERS WITH SHARP ANOMALIES

In the preceding subsections, the connection between conjugate absorption and luminescence spectra was examined on the basis of two assumptions. Firstly, we ignored the nonadiabatic part of the electron-phonon coupling and, secondly, the adiabatic potential in (2.4)and (2.5) was replaced by a quadratic function of the vibrational coordinates. Many effects, for example, relatively small departures from mirror symmetry between conjugate absorption and luminescence spectra, temperature broadening of zero-phonon lines, "transfer" of intensity from the zero-phonon line to the phonon wing as the temperature increases, and so on, can be satisfactorily described, even quantitatively, within the framework of these two approximations. However, optical spectra of certain impurity centers have anomalies that are very difficult, and occasionally impossible, to explain within the framework of a theory based on the above two approximations. These anomalies include the break in the frequency scale between the long-wave edge of the absorption band and the shortwave edge of the conjugate fluorescence band (Fig. 11), the presence of structure in one of the spectra, and the lack of structure (partial or total) in the conjugate spectrum (Fig. 11b).

These anomalies can occasionally be explained by "trivial" factors. For example, the break in the frequency scale between the absorption and fluorescence spectra of naphthalene single crystals was explained by Shpak¹¹³ by the presence of β -methylnaphthalene impurity in naphthalene, which was difficult to separate out. The break between the absorption and fluorescence spectra of polyenes (Fig. 11a) has been explained in terms of the presence of a low-intensity long-wave electronic transition.¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁸ This long-wave transition has practically no effect on the intensity distribution in the absorption band, but determines the origin and shape of the fluorescence spectrum. Davydov and Kislukha^{119, 120} have introduced a four-level scheme to explain the break on the frequency scale between absorption and emission spectra. They have examined the change in the length of the transtetraene molecule



FIG. 11. Optical spectra with sharp anomalies: (a) absorption and fluorescence bands of diphenyloctatetraene in ether isopentane ethanol (5:5:2) at 77 °K; ¹¹⁴ (b) structured absorption and structureless emission of anthracene in alcohol at 77 °K. ¹¹²

325 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

I. S. Osad'ko 325

.

under electronic excitation. The four-level scheme has also been discussed by Neporent¹²¹⁻¹²³ and by other workers.^{124, 125} Figure 12 shows the four-level scheme and the various associated equilibrium configurations of the spiropyran molecule.¹²¹ Optical transitions are shown by solid arrows and radiationless transitions accompanied by a change in the shape of the molecules ("electronic regrouping") are shown by wavy arrows. This scheme was put forward by Neporent¹²¹ as a way of explaining at least two facts, namely, the diffuse appearance of the optical spectra of complicated molecules and the break on the frequency scale between the absorption spectrum and the fluorescence spectrum. "Nonstationary Franck-Condon states," which involve the broadened levels in the energy level scheme of Fig. 12, are introduced to explain the first fact. Neporent associates the nonstationary nature of these states with intramolecular vibronic interactions. This is difficult to accept (see footnote 15 and associated text on that page). On the other hand, there are no basic objections to the explanation of the second fact in terms of the four-level scheme, but it generates other difficulties which are difficult to resolve. Firstly, it is difficult to understand the absence of the optical transition shown by the broken arrow in Fig. 12 (for example, in Nd³⁺ ions, whose energy level scheme is similar to the four-level scheme of Fig. 12, such transitions are, in fact, observed¹²⁷). Secondly, it is not clear what is the nature of electronic level II [in organic molecules, the largest energy separation is usually between the ground (I) and first excited (II) states]. Since the explanation based on the four-level scheme generates, in our view, more difficulties than it resolves, we are forced to ask another question, namely, what would be the shape of the conjugate optical spectra if the adiabatic potential of the impurity center were to have more than one minimum in at least one of the coordinates?

Figure 13 illustrates the situation where the phototransition occurs between two electronic states, the adiabatic potential of one of which has two minima in the vibrational coordinate R_1 . If the height of the barrier associated with the potential corresponding to the upper electronic state exceeds by a substantial factor the vibration frequency which is the most active one in the optical spectrum, the intensity distribution $I^{0}(\omega)$ in the absorption spectrum and the intensity distribution $I^{e}(\omega)$ in the fluorescence spectrum are given by¹²⁸:



FIG. 12. Change in the conformation of the spiropyran molecule and the four-level scheme.¹²¹

Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979 326

$$I^{e}(\omega) \approx M^{2}(\mathbf{b}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \exp\left[-i\left(\omega-e^{e}\right)t + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv f^{e}(v)\left(e^{-ivt}-1\right)\right], \quad (7.2)$$

where

$$f^{0}(\mathbf{v}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}} a_{\mathbf{x}}^{*} \delta(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{x}}), \tag{7.3}$$

$$f^{a}(\mathbf{v}) = \sum b_{\mathbf{x}}^{*} \delta(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{x}}) . \tag{7.4}$$

In these expressions, $(a_x = (\alpha_x^0 - \alpha_x^e)/2)$ and $(b_x = (\beta_x^e)/2)$ $-\alpha_x^{0}/2$ are the differences between the minima of the potential surfaces and x is the normal vibration index. The expressions given by (7.1) and (7.2) can be transformed to the form given by (3.12)-(3.14). The quantities $M^{2}(\mathbf{a})$ and $M^{2}(\mathbf{b})$ determine the integrated intensity of the absorption and fluorescence spectra, respectively. Since the difference $\mathbf{a} - \mathbf{b}$ can be of the order of the interatomic separation, the two intensities may be very different. The second feature is that there is a break amounting to $\varepsilon^0 - \varepsilon^e$ between the 0-0 transitions in the absorption and fluorescence spectra. The third feature is that, since the integrated values of the phonon functions $f^{0}(\nu)$ and $f^{e}(\nu)$ are very different $(f^{0} \ll f^{e})$, the fluorescence spectrum is dominated by multiphonon phototransitions, whereas the absorption spectrum is dominated by the 0-0 transition and one- or two-guantum transitions. The shape of the optical spectra corresponding to the situation where R_1 is the intramolecular coordinate (a) and the intermolecular coordinate (b), whilst the probability of the tunneling transition P_{π} is much greater than the phototransition probability I^0 , is shown schematically on the right of Fig. 13. If, however, $P_n \simeq I^0$, one should see both the long-wave luminescence spectrum and the short-wave luminescence band (broken curve in Fig. 13). If the adiabatic potentials for the first and lowest states have several minima, the electronic-vibrational transitions may generate different spectral distributions. Only two of them are considered below. They are relevant to the problem of excimer emission and the "multiplet" problem.

A. Excimers

It has long been known that the formation of dimers is accompanied by the emission of broad-band structureless radiation, shifted away from the structured dimer absorption by several thousand cm⁻¹ toward the red (Fig. 11b). This emission is often ascribed to the excimer, defined as a dimer, with a purely repulsive potential in the electronic ground state.^{129, 130} Excimer emission is observed both in liquid and solid solutions. In the latter case, it is difficult to understand how a



FIG. 13. Adiabatic potentials of an impurity center and schematic representation of the corresponding absorption and fluorescence bands $I^{0}(\omega)$ and $I^{1}(\omega)$. R_{1} represents the intra- (a) and intermolecular (b) coordinates.

real adiabatic potential can fail to have a minimum in the ground state. The repulsive potential in the definition of an excimer is introduced to explain the absence of absorption by the excimer. However, the dimer must have precisely this property if its potential energy in the excited state is to depend on the separation or the angle between the molecules, as shown in Fig. 13. Therefore a new definition of an excimer has been introduced¹²⁸ as a dimer whose potential energy in the excited state has more than one minimum in the intermolecular coordinate (Fig. 13). The following main facts can then be easily understood: (1) the shift of the excimer emission maximum toward the red relative to the dimer absorption region; (2) the absence of structure in the excimer emission; (3) the absence of structureless absorption conjugate with respect to the excimer emission; (4) the appearance of excimer emission due to the structured dimer fluorescence which sometimes takes place with increasing temperature.¹³¹⁻¹³³

B. "Multiplets"

It is well known that optical spectra of many molecules dissolved in n-paraffins and certain other matrices consist of "multiplets," i.e., groups of lines that are found to repeat throughout the optical spectrum of the impurity center. Shpol'skii has examined this phenomenon¹²⁴ and suggested that not all the impurity centers find themselves under the same conditions in such matrices. Thus, there are several types of spatially separated impurity centers whose electronic levels are shifted relative to one another under the influence of different local environments. Both emission and absorption of light by such solid solutions will then exhibit multiplet structure. This point of view has been confirmed by other workers.^{29, 135, 136} Selective excitation of the individual components of the multiplet has been used to simplify the multiplet structure of the fluorescence spectrum.^{29, 135} However, it was also established¹³⁷ that selective excitation of one component of a multiplet might be accompanied by the excitation of another in the fluorescence spectrum. This can be explained in a general way with the aid of Fig. 14, which shows the potential energy of the impurity center as a function of the coordinate characterizing the position of the impurity molecule in solution. Under white-light excitation, the absorption and fluorescence spectra take the form shown in Fig. 14, i.e., a doublet structure appears. When one of the doublet components is excited by monochromatic light, the other component may appear in the fluorescence spectrum. A large change in the position of equilibrium of the molecule may appear spectroscopically as a transformation of the impurity center of



FIG. 14. Dependence of adiabatic potentials of an impurity molecule on the orientational coordinate R_i and the doublet structure of the corresponding optical spectrum.

327 Sov. Phys. Usp. 22(5), May 1979

one type into an impurity center of another type. One hopes that this can be used as a basis for an understanding of the transformation of impurity centers under the influence of laser radiation.⁸²

8. CONCLUSIONS

L.

We have reviewed the results of the theory which, whilst being microscopic, is, nevertheless, phenomenological in character because the parameters of the adiabatic potentials and phonon spectrum that are necessary for calculating the optical bands must be introduced externally into the theory. Its main disadvantage is that the band shapes cannot be calculated numerically without first specifying the magnitudes of some of the parameters. The main advantage of the theory is its generality; many of the special questions, for example, type of solvent, physical and chemical characteristics of the impurity center, particular shape of the phonon spectrum, and so on, are unimportant for this theory. To exploit this advantage to the full, the phenomenological theory must unify all effects of common origin. It is only after this unification that the set of theoretical formulas representing different points of view and depending on unknown parameters can be justifiably referred to as a theory. As recently as ten years ago, this plan was largely unrealizable. For example, the theory was unable to express the shape of conjugate absorption and luminescence bands in terms of the same theoretical parameters (apart from the trivial case of mirror symmetry) even though it was obvious that all the details on the conjugate bands were generated by the same electron-phonon coupling. Such a theory has, by now, been constructed and we have tried to review it here. Progress was achieved by overcoming various mathematical difficulties. This technical aspect of the subject is not reflected in our review, but the necessary information can be found in the references cited at the end. We are now in a position to conclude that the departure from mirror symmetry can serve as an important source of information on the Herzberg-Teller coupling and on the change in the shape of the potential Franck-Condon surfaces during phototransitions. Although we have devoted considerable space in this review to the way in which information on the electronphonon coupling can be obtained by suitably analyzing the experimental data, it is not, unfortunately, always possible to demonstrate the utility of the theoretical formulas in relation to particular experimental data because, so far, very few simultaneous studies of conjugate bands have been carried out. For example, noone has yet carried out a simultaneous study of the structured phonon wings of conjugate bands and the temperature broadening of zero-phonon lines. Having solved the quantitative problem of the connection between conjugate absorption and fluorescence spectra, the theory offers new possibilities to the experimenter. One would hope that these will be fully exploited in the near future and that new information on the electronphonon coupling will become available as a result.

The author is indebted to M. D. Galanin and A. S. Davydov, who read this review in manuscript form and made a number of valuable suggestions.

- ¹S. I. Pekar, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 50, 197 (1953).
- ²J. J. Markham, Rev. Mod. Phys. 31, 956 (1959).
- ³Yu. E. Perlin, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 80, 533 (1963) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 6, 542 (1964)].
- ⁴W. B. Fowler (ed.) Physics of Color Centers, Academic Press, New York (1968).
- ⁵R. Wallis (ed.), Localized Excitations in Solids, Plenum Press, New York (1968).
- ⁶M. D. Frank-Kamenetskii and A. V. Lukashin, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 116, 193 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 18, 391 (1976)].
- ⁷K. Rebane, Elementarnaya teoriya kolebatel'noi struktury spektrov primesnykh tsentrov kristallov (Elementary Theory of the Vibrational Structure of the Spectra of Impurity Centers in Crystals), Nauka, Moscow (1968). English translation published by Plenum Press, 1970.
- ⁸A. A. Maradudin, "Theoretical and Experimental Aspects of the Effect of Point Defects and Disorder on the Vibrations of Crystals," in: Solid State Physics, ed. F. Seitz and D. Turnbull, Vols. 18 and 19, Academic Press, 1966 (Russ. Transl., Mir, 1968).
- ⁹Yu. E. Perlin and B. S. Tsukerblat, Effekty elektronnokolebatel'nogo vzaimodeistviya v opticheskikh spektrakh primesnykh paramagnitnykh ionov (Effects of the Electron-Phonon Coupling on Optical Spectra of Impurity Paramagnetic Ions), Shtiintsa, Kishinev, 1974.
- ¹⁰N. N. Kristofel', Teoriya primesnykh tsentrov malykh radiusov v ionnykh krystallakh (Theory of Impurity Centres of Small Radius in Ionic Crystals), Nauka, Moscow, 1974.
- ¹¹A. F. Lubchenko, Kvantovye perekhody v primesnykh tsentrakh tverdykh tel (Quantum Transitions in Impurity Centers in Solids), Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1978.
- ¹²R. I. Personov, E. I. Al'shits, and L. A. Bykovskaya, Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 15, 609 (1972) [JETP Lett. 15, 431 (1972)] Opt. Commun. 6, 169 (1972).
- ¹³R. I. Personov, E. I. Al'shits, L. A. Bykovskaya, and B. M. Kharlamov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 65, 1825 (1973) [Sov. Phys. JETP 38, 912 (1974)].
- ¹⁴M. Born, Gött. Math. Phys. K 1, 1 (1951).
- ¹⁵M. Born and K. Huang, Dynamical Theory of Crystal Lattices, Oxford University Press, 1954 (Russ. Transl., IL, M., 1958).
- ¹⁶D. I. Blokhintsev, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 9, 459 (1939); J. Phys. (USSR) 1, 117 (1939).
- ¹⁷V. L. Levshin, Fotolyuminestsentsiya zhidkikh i tverdykh veshchestv (Photoluminescence of Liquid and Solid Substances), Gostekhizdat, M., 1951.
- ¹⁸B. I. Stepanov, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 112, 839 (1957) [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 2, 81 (1957)].
- ¹⁹S. I. Pekar and Yu. E. Perlin, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 6, 3073 (1964) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 6, 2450 (1965)].
- ²⁰S. I. Pekar and Yu. E. Perlin, Phys. Status Solidi 6, 615 (1964).
- ²¹W. Fowler and D. Dexter, *ibid.* 3, 1865 (1967).
- ²²N. N. Kristofel', N. N. Rebane, O. I. Sil'd, and V. V. Khizhnyakov, Opt. Spektrosk. 15, 569 (1963) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 15, 306 (1963)].
- ²³J. Birks and D. J. Dyson, Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. A 275, 135 (1963).
- W. Gebhart and H. Kühnert, Phys. Status Solidi 11, 15 (1964)
 R. I. Personov, I. S. Osad'ko, É. D. Godyaev, and E. I. Al'
- shits, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 13, 2653 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 13, 2224 (1963)].
- ²⁶D. B. Fitchen, R. H. Silsbee, T. A. Fulton, and E. B. Wolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. 11, 275 (1963).
- ²⁷A. Freiberg, Avtoreferat kandidatskol dissertatsii (Author's Abstract of Thesis for Candidate's Degree), IF AN ÉSSR, Tartu (1976)
- Tartu (1976). ²⁸A. Freiberg and A. Rebane, Phys. Status Solidi B 81, 359 (1977).
- ²⁹K. Rebane, P. Saari, and P. Tamm, Izv. Akad. Nauk ÉSSR Ser. Fiz. Mat. 19, 251 (1970).

- ³⁰R. Ostertag and H. C. Wolf, Phys. Status Solidi 31, 139(1969).
- ³¹J. Richards and S. Rice, J. Chem. Phys. 54, 2014 (1971).
- ³²I. S. Osad'ko, R. I. Personov, and E. I. Al'shits, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 16, 1974 (1974) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 16, 1286 (1975)].
- ³³P. Ranson, P. Peretti, J. L. Laport, and Y. Rousset, J. Chim. Phys. Phys. Chim. Biol. 73, 545 (1976).
- ³⁴V. K. Dolganov, K. P. Meletov, and E. F. Sheka, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 39, 1900 (1975).
- ³⁵V. L. Broude, V. K. Dolganov, F. B. Slobodskoi, and E. F. Sheka, J. Lumin. 8, 349 (1974).
- ³⁶E. F. Sheka and K. Meletov, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. **43**, 203 (1977).
- ³⁷K. Huang and A. Rhys. Proc. R. Soc. London Ser A 204, 406 (1950). [Russ. Transl. in Problemy fiziki poluprovodnikov, IL, M., 1957, p. 389.]
- ³⁸A. S. Davydov, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 24, 197 (1953) [sic].
- ³⁹A. S. Davydov. Uch. Zap. Kiev. Univ. 14, 5 (1955).
- ⁴⁰R. Kubo and Y. Toyozawa, Prog. Theor. Phys. 13, 160 (1955).
- ⁴¹F. Urbach, Phys. Rev. **92**, 1324 (1953).
- ⁴²A. S. Davydov, Teoriya molekulyarnykh eksitonov (Theory of Molecular Excitons), Nauka, M., 1968.
- ⁴³A. M. Ratner and G. E. Zil'berman, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 3, 687 (1961) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 3, 499 (1961)].
- ⁴⁴A. V. Lukashin, Opt. Spektrosk. 32, 661 (1972) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 32, 351 (1972)].
- ⁴⁵A. F. Lubchenko and B. M. Pavlik, Ukr. Fiz. Zh. 9, 1221 (1964).
- ⁴⁶I. S. Osad'ko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 15, 2429 (1973) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 15, 1614 (1974)].
- ⁴¹I. S. Osad'ko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 17, 3180 (1975) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 17, 2098 (1975)].
- ⁴⁸I. S. Osad'ko, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 72, 1575 (1977) [Sov. Phys. JETP 45, 827 (1977)].
- ⁴⁹M. A. Krivoglaz and S. I. Pekar, Tr. Inst. Fiz. Akad. Nauk Ukr. SSR 4, 37 (1953).
- ⁵⁰I. P. Dzyub and A. F. Lubchenko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Lenin-
- grad) 3, 3602 (1961) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 3, 2619 (1962)]. ⁵¹E. D. Trifonov, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 147, 826 (1962) [Sov.
- Phys. Dokl. 7, 1105 (1963)]. ⁵²K. K. Rebane and V. V. Khizhnyakov, Opt. Spektrosk. 14, 362,
- 491 (1963) [Opt. Spectrosc. 14, 193 (1963)]. ⁵³L. S. Kukushkin, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 5, 2170 (1963)
- [Sov. Phys. Solid State 5, 1581 (1964)].
- ⁵⁴L. S. Kukushkin, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 7, 54 (1965)
 [Sov. Phys. Solid State 7, 38 (1965)].
- ⁵⁵T. Keil, Phys. Rev. A 140, 601 (1965).
- ⁵⁶A. V. Lukashin and M. D. Frank-Kamenetskii, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 188, 391 (1969).
- ⁵⁷G. J. Small, Chem. Phys. Lett. 15, 147 (1972).
- ⁵⁸T. E. Sharp and H. M. Rosenstock, J. Chem. Phys. 41, 3453 (1964).
- ⁵⁹A. F. Lubchenko, Preprint ITF-70-28, Kiev, 1970.
- ⁶⁰L. A. Loorits and K. K. Rebane, Tr. Inst. Fiz. Akad. Nauk Ukr. SSR 32, 3 (1967).
- ³¹O. N. Korotaev, T. M. Naumova, V. P. Karpov, and M. Yu.
- Kaliteevskii, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 39, 2336 (1975).
- ⁶²F. P. Burke and G. J. Small, J. Chem. Phys. 61, 4588 (1974).
- ⁶³H. C. Snyder and G. C. Wick, Phys. Rev. 120, 128 (1960).
- ⁶⁴E. O. Kane, Phys. Rev. 119, 40 (1960).
- ⁶⁵R. H. Silsbee, *ibid.*, **128**, 1726 (1962).
- ⁶⁶M. A. Krivoglaz, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 6, 1707 (1964) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 6, 1340 (1964)].
- ⁶⁷Yu. Kagan, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 47, 366 (1964) [Sov. Phys. JETP 20, 243 (1965)].
- ⁶⁸V. V. Khizhnyakov, Tr. Inst. Fiz. Akad. Nauk Ukr. SSR 29, 83 (1964).
- ⁶⁹D. E. McCumber and M. D. Sturge, J. Appl. Phys. 34, 1682 (1963).
- ⁷⁰I. S. Osad'ko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 14, 2927 (1972) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 14, 2522 (1973)].

- ⁷¹I. S. Osad'ko and S. A. Zhdanov, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. **39**, 1981 (1975).
- ¹²I. S. Osad'ko and S. A. Zhdanov, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 18, 766 (1976) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 18, 441 (1976)].
- ⁷³I. S. Osad'ko and S. A. Zhdanov, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad)
 19, 1683 (1977) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 19, 982 (1977)].
- ⁷⁴L. A. Rebane and A. M. Freiberg, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 16, 1686 (1974) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 16, 1097 (1974)].
- ⁷⁵A. Gorochovski and L. Rebane, Opt. Commun. 20, 144 (1977).
- ⁷⁶S. Voelker, R. M. Macfarlane, A. Z. Genack, H. P. Trommsdorff, and J. H. van der Waals, J. Chem. Phys. 67, 1759 (1977).
- ¹⁷I. S. Osad'ko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) **13**, 1178 (1971) [Sov. Phys. Solid State **13**, 974 (1971)].
- ⁷⁸I. S. Osad'ko, R. I. Personov, and É. V. Shpol'skii, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 37, 540 (1973).
- ⁷⁹I. S. Osad'ko, R. I. Personov, and É. V. Shpol'skiĭ, J. Lumin. 6, 369 (1973).
- ⁸⁰E. I. Al'shits, É. D. Godyaev, and R. I. Personov, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 36, p. 1117 (1972); Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 14, 1605 (1972) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 14, 1385 (1972)].
- ⁸¹R. I. Personov and V. V. Solodunov, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) **10**, 1878 (1968) [Sov. Phys. Solid State **10**, 1454 (1969)].
- ⁸²B. M. Kharlamov, R. I. Personov, and L. A. Bykovskaya, Opt. Commun. 12, 191 (1974).
- ⁸³V. A. Kizel' and M. N. Sapozhnikov, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 12, 2083 (1970) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 12, 1659 (1971)].
- ⁸⁴F. P. Burke and G. J. Small, Chem. Phys. 5, 198 (1974).
- ⁸⁵A. A. Gorokhovskii, R. K. Kaarli, and L. A. Rebane, Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 20, 216 (1974) [JETP Lett. 20, 216 (1974)].
- ⁸⁶A. Gorokhovski, R. Kaarli, and L. Rebane, Opt. Commun. 16, 282 (1976).
- ⁸⁷L. A. Rebane, A. M. Freiberg, and Yu. Ya. Koni, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 15, 3318 (1973) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 15, 2209 (1974)].
- ⁸⁸M. N. Sapozhnikov, Phys. Status Solidi B 56, 391 (1973).
- ⁸⁹D. B. Fitchen, in: Physics of Color Centers (ed. by W. G. Fowler), Academic Press, New York, 1968, p. 294.
- ⁹⁰A. I. Laisaar, A. K. I. Mugra, and M. N. Sapozhnikov, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 16, 1155 (1974) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 16, 741 (1974)].
- ⁹¹J. P. Byrne and I. G. Ross, Austr. J. Chem. 24, 1107 (1971).
- ⁹²J. Fünfschilling and D. F. Williams, Photochem. Photobiol. 26, 109 (1977).
- ⁹³R. A. Avarmaa and K. Kh. Mauring, Zh. Prikl. Spektrosk. 28, 658 (1978).
- ⁹⁴L. A. Bykovskaya, F. F. Litvin, R. I. Personov, and Yu. V. Romanovskii, Biofizika (1979).
- ⁹⁵L. A. Rebane, O. I. Sil'd, and T. Yu. Khal'dre, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 35, 1395 (1971).
- ⁹⁶A. M. Freiberg and L. A. Rebane, Izv. Akad. Nauk ESSR Ser. Fiz. - Mat. 25, 380 (1976).
- ⁹⁷H. Sponer and S. Wollman, J. Chem. Phys. 9, 816 (1941).
- 98D. P. Craig and G. J. Small, *ibid.* 50, 3827 (1969).
- ⁹⁹I. S. Osad'ko, Fiz. Tverd. Tela (Leningrad) 12, 2123 (1970) [Sov. Phys. Solid State 12, 1686 (1971)].
- ¹⁰⁰F. A. Savin, Opt. Spektrosk. 26, 114 (1969) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 26, 60 (1969)].
- ¹⁰¹I. S. Osad'ko, *ibid.* 32, 259 (1972) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 32, 137 (1972)].
- ¹⁰²N. S. Strokach, E. A. Gastilovich, and D. N. Shigorin, *ibid.* 35, 238 (1973) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 35, 140 (1973)].
- ¹⁰³T. N. Bolotnikova and O. F. El'nikova, *ibid.* 36, 292 (1974) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 36, 168 (1974)].
- ¹⁰⁴T. N. Bolotnikova and O. F. El'nikova, *ibid*. 683 [Opt.

- Spectrosc. (USSR) 36, 397 (1974)].
- ¹⁰⁵T. N. Bolotnikova and O. F. El'nikova, *ibid.* 895 [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 36, 522 (1974)].
- ¹⁰⁶A. T. Gradyushko, K. N. Solov'ev, A. S. Starukhin, and A. M. Shul'ga, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. **39**, 1938 (1975).
- ¹⁰⁷E. A. Gastilovich and D. N. Shigorin, Opt. Spektrosk. 38, 267 (1975) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 38, 538 (1975)].
- ¹⁰⁸E. A. Gastilovich, T. T. Kryuchkova, K. A. Mishenina, and D. N. Shigorin, *ibid.* 39, 235 (1975) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 39, 134 (1975)].
- ¹⁰⁹A. T. Gradyushko, K. N. Solov'ev, and A. S. Starukhin, *ibid*.
 40, 469 (1976) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) **40**, 267 (1976)].
- ¹¹⁰E. A. Korotaeva and T. M. Naumova, *ibid.* 42, 912 (1977) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 42, 524 (1977)].
- ¹¹¹G. N. Nersesova and O. F. Shtrokirkh, *ibid.* 44, 102 (1978) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 44, 58 (1978)].
- ¹¹² E. Chandross and J. Ferguson, J. Chem. Phys. 45, 3554 (1966).
- ¹¹³M. T. Shpak, Avtoreferat doktorskoi dissertatsii (Author's Abstract of Doctoral Thesis), IF AN USSR, Kiev, 1964.
- ¹¹⁴B. S. Hudson and B. E. Kohler, J. Chem. Phys. 59, 4984 (1973).
- ¹¹⁵R. L. Christensen and B. E. Kohler, *ibid.* 63, 1837 (1975).
- ¹¹⁶A. N. Nikitina, N. A. Ponomareva, L. A. Yanovskaya, V. A. Dombrovskii, and V. F. Kucherov, Opt. Spektrosk. 40, 251 (1976) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 40, 144 (1976)].
- ¹¹⁷A. N. Nikitina, N. A. Ponomareva, G. S. Ter-Sarkisyan, and L. A. Yanovskaya, *ibid.* **42**, 889 (1977) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) **42**, 511 (1977)].
- ¹¹⁸A. N. Nikitina, N. A. Ponomareva, L. A. Yanovskaya, and G. S. Ter-Sarkisyan, Chem. Phys. Lett. **32**, 516 (1977).
- ¹¹⁹A. S. Davydov and N. I. Kislukha, Ukr. Fiz. Zh. 19, 672 (1974).
- ¹²⁰A. S. Davydov and N. I. Kislukha, Preprint ITP-73-124E, Kiev, 1973.
- ¹²¹B. S. Neporent, Opt. Spektrosk. **32**, 38 (1972) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) **32**, 19 (1972)].
- ¹²²B. S. Neporent, *ibid.* 670 [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 32, 355 (1972)].
- ¹²³B. S. Neporent, *ibid.* 880 [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) **32**, 468 (1972)].
- ¹²⁴H. E. Hollway, R. V. Nauman, and J. H. Warton, J. Phys. Chem. 72, 4468 (1968).
- ¹²⁵N. Mataga, Y. Kaifu, and M. Koizumi, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **29**, 465 (1956).
- ¹²⁶R. A. Avarmaa, Opt. Spektrosk. **32**, 959 (1972) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) **32**, 514 (1972)].
- ¹²⁷A. Yariv, Quantum Electronics, Wiley, New York-London, 1967.
- ¹²⁸I. S. Osad'ko, Phys. Status Solidi B 82, K107 (1977).
- ¹²⁹T. Förster and K. Kasper, Z. Phys. Chem. (Frankfurt am Main) 1, 275 (1954).
- ¹³⁰J. B. Birks, Rep. Prog. Phys. 38, 1 (1975).
- ¹³¹J. Tanaka, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 36, 1237 (1963).
- ¹³²A. Inoue, K. Yoschihara, T. Kasuya, and S. Nagakura, *ibid.* 45, 720 (1972).
- ¹³³L. A. Klimova, G. N. Nersesova, and A. I. Ogloblina, Opt. Spektrosk. 38, 936 (1975) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 38, 538 (1975)].
- ¹³⁴ É. V. Shpol'skiĭ, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 71, 215 (1960) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 3, 372 (1961)].
- ¹³⁵G. Svishchev, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Fiz. 27, 696 (1963).
- ¹³⁶D. M. Grebenshchikov, Author's Abstract of Thesis for Candidate's Degree, MGPI, M., 1969.
- ¹³⁷O. N. Korotaev and R. I. Personov, Opt. Spektrosk. 32, 900 (1972) [Opt. Spectrosc. (USSR) 32, 479 (1972)].

Translated by S. Chomet